
1 

26 

REDCOM BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
Special Meeting Agenda   
June 11, 2025 @ 200pm  

Sonoma County Fire District Station No. 1
  8200 Old Redwood Hwy 

Windsor

Join by Teams Meeting  
 Meeting ID: 264037460558 Passcode: Lc7rD2Hh 

or by phone at 1-929-376-1982 using Conference 464 933 476# 

Director Dr. Luoto will participate remotely under the traditional teleconferencing rules 
under the Brown Act. Dr. Luoto’s publicly accessible teleconference 

Location is: 

The Public Library 
316 Estrella Ave, La Selva Beach CA, 95076 

The Public is welcome at the above locations 
Since we have one Board Member remote for this meeting, attendance will comply 

with the traditional teleconferencing rules required by the Brown Act. 

Notice: Copies of additional materials provided to the Board of Directors for information on agenda items 
are available at the County of Sonoma Clerk of the Board’s Office and the REDCOM fire & EMS 9-1-1 
Center.  

1. Call to Order

2. Approval of the Agenda

https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__teams.microsoft.com_l_meetup-2Djoin_19-253ameeting-5FMmJkM2RiNGQtNDVlZC00OTYxLWExNzUtYWM4MTAwY2E2N2E0-2540thread.v2_0-3Fcontext-3D-257b-2522Tid-2522-253a-25228f7636bb-2D81ad-2D4268-2Dbf87-2Df1aef06a7278-2522-252c-2522Oid-2522-253a-252268368ce9-2D16c3-2D4468-2D9865-2Dda5d3dc9fc0f-2522-257d&d=DwMGaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=Uk5GHFoj5XdcitZXh_HE2OC2Pyin8c22M2hfWykU5u4&m=uTD0lgQjw10mncB6EAsPmDvC0ygHgLCQzG_mDXf-TY2ZsU3zPFiftc_TqThPc2tx&s=SG9cm5OZ3XwphQ19B-d3H5EWMK7llu5RfBAgH6CUk0A&e=


2 

3. Public Comment Period
Anyone from the public may address the REDCOM Board of Directors

regarding any subject over which the Board has jurisdiction, but which is not  
on today’s agenda. Individuals will be limited to a three-minute presentation.  
No action will be taken by the Board as a result of any items presented at this 
time. 

Regular Calendar 

4. Closed Session Item: The Board of Directors will consider the following in
closed session: significant exposure to litigation pursuant to subdivisions
(d)(2) and e(4)of Section 54956.9 (1 matter).

5. Information Item: Executive Director’s report

6. Action Item: Bell’s Ambulance fee objection hearing
a. Board determination on Bell’s Ambulance fee objection for FY

24/25
b. Board determination on Bell’s Ambulance fee objection for FY

25/26

7. Discussion Item: Second Amendment to the Joint Powers Agreement and
Proposed REDCOM Bylaws Amendments

8. Next Regular meeting will be – TBD
Location: 2796 Ventura Ave Santa Rosa, Sheriffs Building

9. Adjournment- Motion to adjourn.

Closed Session Calendar 



Page 1 of 3 
Board Meeting Date -06/05/2025 

Item 5 

REDCOM 
2796 Ventura Avenue - Santa Rosa, CA  95403 I Tel: (707)568-5992 

STAFF REPORT 
TO: Board of Directors Meeting 
DATE: June 5, 2025 

PREPARED BY:  Ethan Pawson, Counsel 

APPROVED BY: Evonne Stevens 

ITEM 5: BELL’S AMBULANCE FEE OBJECTION HEARING 

RECOMMENDATION 

A) Reject Bell’s Ambulance fee proposal for FY 24/25 and require full monthly payments of
REDCOM fees pursuant to the FY 24-25 Revised Budget and the Dispatch Agreement
between Bell’s and REDCOM for the remainder of FY 24/25. Consider whether to apply a
monthly1.5% interest penalty for outstanding payments due.

B) Reject Bell’s Ambulance fee proposal for FY 25/26 and require full payment of REDCOM fees
pursuant to the Adopted Budget for FY 25/26.

C) Authorize the REDCOM Executive Director to enforce all terms of the Dispatch Services
Agreement with Bell’s Ambulance as needed, up to and including the potential for termination
of the contract.

BACKGROUND 

REDCOM provides emergency medical dispatch services to Bell’s Ambulance Service (“Bell’s”) 
pursuant to an Emergency Medical Services Dispatch Agreement (“Dispatch Agreement”) 
executed in 2018.  On May 2, 2025, REDCOM received a letter from Bell’s Ambulance Service 
objecting to the fee increases for fiscal years 2024/25 and 2025/26.  After consultation with 
counsel, REDCOM determined that this letter presents an objection to the fee for services that 
Bell’s pays to REDCOM, as described in Section III.A of the Dispatch Agreement. 

The Dispatch Agreement provides that the ambulance provider is to provide a written notice of its 
objection within fifteen days of receipt of the Dispatch Fee Notice from REDCOM, and failure to 
do so is deemed an acceptance and agreement to pay fees. The REDCOM Board then must 
make a determination on the objection within 30 days of receipt.  Pursuant to Section III.A of the 
Dispatch Services Agreement, REDCOM properly notified Bell’s Ambulance of the Dispatch Fees 
established for the remainder of this fiscal year and next fiscal year based on the Cost Allocation 
Methodology, which REDCOM provided to Bells in February 2025.  This hearing is intended to 



Page 2 of 3
Board Meeting Date -06/05/2025 

allow deliberation by the REDCOM Board and to make a final determination on Bell’s fee 
objection. 

DISCUSSION 

There are two components to Bell’s fee proposal, one for the current fiscal year and a second 
proposal for fees paid in fiscal year 2025/26. First, the letter of objection proposes that Bell’s 
will agree to pay $15,778 per month for the remainder of Fiscal Year 2024/25.  For next fiscal 
year 2025/26, Bell’s proposes an 8% fee increase to $17,040 per month. 

Bell’s FY 24-25 total assessment was initially set at $186,349. With the approval of the FY 24-25 
Revised Budget, your Board approved an increased assessment of $60,162. Your Board directed 
staff to work with providers and offer payment plans as needed, but Bell’s Dispatch Agreement 
already provides monthly remittance.  

As of June 1st, 2025, Bells has made a total of six-monthly payments towards FY 24-25 dues and 
carries a past due balance of $91,720.64. Since the FY 24-25 Revised Budget was approved on 
February 6, 2025, Bells has continued to send monthly payments covering only the amount of the 
initial fee assessment ($15,778 per month) on three separate occasions (March, April and May 
payments), disregarding the increased monthly dues ($12,032.80 monthly). No interest in late 
payments have been assessed.  Under Section III.B of the Dispatch Agreement, late payments 
may be assessed a 1.5% per month interest (18% per annum) on the unpaid balance.  Failure to 
pay timely is a material breach of the Dispatch Agreement and cause for termination. 

After July 1, 2025, Bell’s dispatch fee contribution to REDCOM for FY 25/26 (excluding tablet 
command costs) will increase to $252,729 annually, payable in monthly installments of $21,060.75. 
Bell’s proposal to pay up to approximately $17,040 per month will not cover the cost for REDCOM 
to provide dispatch services to Bell’s in FY 25/26 and is contrary to the terms of the Dispatch 
Agreement between Bell’s and REDCOM. This proposal would result in a decrease in revenue of 
approximately $48,250 in FY 25-26.  

REDCOM’s recent transition away from the subcontractor model, as well as various other cost 
increases in running a regional dispatch center, resulted in proportional cost increases for all of our 
providers and member agencies. Each REDCOM member agency, including those agencies that 
do not receive Measure H funding, as well as the other private providers who contract with 
REDCOM have received proportional fee increases and have made payments consistent with the 
terms of the JPA or their dispatch services contracts.  As previously advised, a reduction to Bell’s 
share of REDCOM fees would shift that cost burden to other member agencies and providers, 
potentially violating Proposition 26.  Accordingly, staff recommend that the REDCOM Board reject 
Bell’s proposal as a final resolution of the fee increases under Bell’s Dispatch Agreement. 

Should Bell’s continue to be dissatisfied with the Board’s resolution of the fee issue, their recourse 
under the Dispatch Agreement is to terminate the agreement with 60 days’ written notice.  
REDCOM additionally has the right to terminate the Dispatch Agreement for cause when the 
provider fails to pay its bills timely.  Upon termination, the provider shall pay REDCOM for all 
services rendered up to the date of termination.  As part of the Board’s action at this hearing, staff 
is requesting authority to take all actions necessary to enforce the terms of the Dispatch 
Agreement, up to and including termination of the agreement. 

FISCAL IMPACTS 

A rejection of Bell’s fee objections presents no fiscal impacts to REDCOM.  



Page 3 of 3
Board Meeting Date -06/05/2025 

Acceptance of a lower fee amount on one or both of Bell’s objections would result in 
decreased revenues of approximately $60,164 for FY 24-25 and $48,250 for FY 25-26. To 
maintain a fiscally sound operation, your Board would need to consider the use of reserves or 
the distribution of decreased services to all other providers (new assessment).  

ATTACHMENTS 

Bell’s Ambulance Letter objecting to increased fees, dated April 27, 2025 
REDCOM Response Letter, dated May 27, 2025 
Bell’s Ambulance/EOA2 Cost Allocation Methodology 
Dispatch Services Agreement with Bell’s Ambulance (2018)







Redwood Empire Dispatch Communications Authority 

May 27, 2025 

Pamela Bell Simmons 
Bell’s Ambulance Service 
P.O. Box 726 
Healdsburg, CA 95448 

Via Email: bellsambulance@aol.com 

Re: Bell’s Ambulance Dispatch Fee Objection – Notice of Board Meeting June 5, 2025 

Dear Ms. Bell Simmons, 

REDCOM is in receipt of your letter dated April 24, 2025 on behalf of Bells Healdsburg 
Ambulance Service (“Bell’s”) in which you propose to pay an amount less than the negotiated 
monthly fee pursuant to your Dispatch Services Agreement with REDCOM.  In your letter, you 
indicate that Bells will pay $15,778 per month for the remainder of FY 24/25 and increasing to 
$17,040 per month in FY 25/26. 

REDCOM has determined that your April 24 letter represents a written objection to the Dispatch 
Fees established for FY 24/25 and FY 25/26.  The 2018 Dispatch Services Agreement 
(“Agreement”) between REDCOM and Bell’s Ambulance provides that the ambulance provider is 
to provide a written notice of its objection within fifteen days of receipt of the Dispatch Fee 
Notice from REDCOM, and failure to do so is deemed an acceptance and agreement to pay 
fees. The REDCOM Board is to make a determination on your objection within 30 days of 
receipt.  Pursuant to Section III.A of the Dispatch Services Agreement, REDCOM properly 
notified Bell’s Ambulance of the Dispatch Fees established for the remainder of this fiscal year 
and next fiscal year based on the Cost Allocation Methodology, which REDCOM provided to 
Bells in February 2025, and is also attached here.  Accordingly, Bell’s failure to timely object 
was an agreement of the fee amounts as noticed by REDCOM.  Based on the long partnership 
between REDCOM and Bell’s, the REDCOM Board will still hear Bell’s objection and make 
a determination at a special meeting held on June 5, 2025 at 2 p.m., which is the earliest 
date the Board could convene to hear this matter. 

Based on the budget adjustment that the REDCOM Board approved in February 2025,  Bell’s 
owed a total amount of approximately $135,900 for the remainder of FY 24/25, paid in monthly 
installments of $27,811.12.  According to REDCOM’s accounting,  Bell’s has only made two 
payments since the budget adjustment in February 2025, each for $15,778.32.  Therefore, Bell’s 

mailto:bellsambulance@aol.com


Redwood Empire Dispatch Communications Authority 

Ambulance carries a past due balance of $51,876.72 as of the date of this letter.  Under Section 
III.B of the Agreement, late payments may be assessed a 1.5% per month interest (18% per
annum) on the unpaid balance.  Failure to pay timely is a material breach of the Agreement.

After July 1, 2025, Bell’s dispatch fee contribution to REDCOM for FY 25/26 (excluding tablet 
command costs) will increase to $252,729 annually, payable in monthly installments of 
$21,060.75. Bell’s proposal to pay up to approximately $17,040 per month will not cover the cost 
for REDCOM to provide dispatch services to Bell’s in FY 25/26, and is contrary to the terms of 
the Dispatch Services Agreement between Bell’s and REDCOM.  

At the June 5, 2025 REDCOM meeting, the Board will provide an opportunity for Bell’s to 
present its fee proposal and objections to the cost allocation for FY 24/25 and FY 25/26.  The 
Board will then deliberate and make a final determination on the amount of fees owed, and 
whether to impose any interest for late payments.  This final resolution of the objection will be 
communicated to Bells pursuant to the terms of the Agreement.  

REDCOM understands the burden of fee increases on all our providers, but disputes that the 
financial burden is being placed only on EOA providers.  All of the REDCOM member agencies, 
including those agencies that do not receive Measure H funding, as well as other private 
providers who contract with REDCOM are receiving and paying proportional fee increases.  As 
you know, REDCOM cannot reduce Bells’ share of REDCOM fees as this would be 
disproportionately felt by the other providers and violate Proposition 26. 

Should you have any questions or concerns with this letter, the upcoming hearing on June 5, 
2025, or the attached cost allocation methodology, please direct them to General Counsel Ethan 
Pawson at ethan.pawson@sonoma-county.org or Executive Director Evonne Stevens at 
estevens@xsnfire.org. 

Very truly yours, 

___________________________________________ 

Evonne Stevens, Executive Director 
Redwood Empire Dispatch Communications Authority 

mailto:ethan.pawson@sonoma-county.org
mailto:estevens@xsnfire.org


Page 1 of 6  

REDCOM Cost Allocation Methodology 
Bells Ambulance, Feb. 2025 

REDCOM uses the same cost allocation methodology for all member agencies, EOA and 
private providers. This methodology follows the requirements stated in the REDCOM Joint 
Powers Agreement and Proposition 26. REDCOM’s Treasurer staff (County ACTTC 
accountants) prepare the REDCOM Budget and cost allocation amongst the member 
agencies, EOA providers and private providers, with input from the Executive Director, staff 
and consultants.  

1. Applicable JPA Budget and Cost Allocation references:

• The Parties shall pay for the entire operation of the Authority, with the annual
expenditure budget determining the total amount of assessment required (11.b).

• The Board of Directors, in adopting an annual budget, thereby fixes the assessment
against the Parties which is binding thereon. (11.b)

• The budget shall include Operation and Maintenance Expenses and Capital
Expenditures:

o Operations and Maintenance Expenses: The costs of operating and
maintaining a facility and the communications/computer equipment housed
therein shall include [...] personnel salaries and benefits, office and
computer supplies and other consumables, [...] and replacement parts
necessary to repair facility equipment due to normal wear and tear from
ordinary usage. (11.c.i.)

o Capital Expenditures: [T]he costs of original purchase of communications
and computer equipment, hardware, software and other fixed asset type
items [...] including equipment improvements and additions [...]
Replacement of equipment at the end of its useful life shall be a capital item
(11.c.ii.)

• Cost charged by the Authority to member agencies and approved providers shall be
allocated based on a five-year rolling average of call volumes. (12)

• The Board of Directors shall also establish the charges to member Parties,
approved providers, and others to cover the costs for any enhanced, additional or
contract services. (12)

* REDCOM acknowledges that Bells is not a signatory to the REDCOM JPA our bound by its
terms, but these provisions provide the basis for the cost allocation methodology



Page 2 of 6

established by the REDCOM Board and incorporated into the 2018 Emergency Medical 
Dispatch Services Agreement between REDCOM and Bells. 

2. Five-year average “call volume”

Cost allocation is based on counting annual (calendar year) case numbers with status = 
en route. A case number is a number issued by CAD and unique to each incident and 
agency. If multiple agencies respond to the same incident, a different case number will be 
issued for each agency, and the count of case numbers will increase equally for all 
dispatched agencies. This can happen anywhere in the County through mutual aid 
agreements, closest resource recommendations etc.  

If the same case number appears several times because several units from the same 
agency were en route, they are removed as duplicates and only one is counted towards 
the count of case numbers.  

To determine the percentage to use for cost allocation for FY 2024-25, the following case 
numbers assigned to Bells were averaged, and this average was divided by the average 
total number of cases for all users of REDCOM services (108,083): 

Calendar 
year: 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 5-year
average

% of 
total 

Bells 3766 3549 4139 3372 3109 3,587 3.32% 

However, in December 2024 AMR stopped using REDCOM to monitor its transports. At it 
January 2025 meeting, the Board approved an adjustment to reflect AMR’s drop in the use 
of REDCOM services. The loss of AMR’s business led to a reduction in the total number of 
cases for REDCOM (from 108,083 to 104,405), and therefore the percentage for each 
provider increased. Bells’ percentage increased from 3.32% to 3.44%. This second 
percentage is used to calculate the increase in costs associated with the FY 24-25 
REVISED Budget only.  

3. Cost allocation methodology:

For each member agency / EOA / private provider, the total assessment is then calculated 
by adding together the following 3 steps: 

STEP 1: Base Fee contribution: 



Page 3 of 6

Each member agency, EOA and private provider is assigned a tier based on call volume and 
assessed the corresponding amount shown in the table below.  

Base Fee Allocation using a 2% CPI over previous year

5-yr Average Calls Range 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 

 25,000+ 1  $  217,590  $    221,942 $    226,381 

 15,000-24,999 2  $  186,506  $    190,236  $    194,041 

 4,001-14,999 3  $   37,301  $    38,047  $    38,808 

 2,501-4,000 4  $    24,867  $    25,365  $    25,872 

 1,500-2,500 5  $    18,650  $    19,023  $    19,404 

 1,000-1,499 6  $    12,434  $    12,682  $    12,936 

501-999 7  $    4,974  $    5,073  $    5,175 

1-500 8  $    3,731  $    3,805  $    3,881 

When the FY 24-25 Budget was adopted in March 2024, Bells fell in range #4 and was 
therefore charged a Base Fee contribution of $25,365. The total Base Fee contribution 
allocated to all parties was $758,410.52. 

STEP 2: “Call Budget” contribution: 

The “Call Budget” is a working definition to designate the total costs that are allocated to 
all member agencies, EOA and private providers using the 5-year average call volume, after 
offsetting the amount assessed through the Base Fee (Step 1), and is determined using the 
following formula: 

Total expenditures budget (not including depreciation) 
- 

Any costs allocated to only certain types of providers 
- 

Any costs funded using reserves / fund balance (as determined by the Board) 
+ 

Any additional assessment towards special project (as determined by the Board) 
- 

The total already assessed through the Base Fee Contribution in Step 1 



Page 4 of 6  

= 
Total “Call Budget” 

At the time of the adoption of the FY 2024-25 Budget in March 2024, the Call Budget was: 

$6,772,573 Total REDCOM Expenditures Budget 

-$105,849 Fire Season Dispatcher cost (fire agencies only) 

-$4,042 Aircards (only Bells and AMR) 

-$364,937

Tablet Command licenses (City of Sonoma, Kenwood FPD, North Sonoma Coast 

FPD, Timber Cove FPD, Coast Life Support, SCSO – Helicopter, Life West and 

REACH do not purchase Tablet Command licenses through REDCOM in FY 24-

25) 

-$788,589 Expansion Project 

+ $100,000

1st year of a four-year assessment towards the expansion project (each member 

agency, EOA and private providers will contribute their share of $100,000 annually 

for 4 years starting in FY 2024-25, the remaining cost is funded through reserves). 

-$758,411 Base Fee Contribution total assessed in Step 1 

$4,850,745 Total “Call Budget” using the Adopted FY 24-25 Approved Budget 

When the FY 24-25 Budget was adopted in March 2024, Bells was allocated a cost of 
$160,984 (3.34% of $4,850,745).  

STEP 3: Costs allocated to only some agencies / providers: 

a. Fire Season Dispatcher shifts (applies to Fire member agencies only):
Bells: N/A 

b. Dues for Tablet Command licenses (based on the number of licenses each agency
requested and the invoice from Tablet Command). This cost is not affected by the
increase in cost related to the Revised Budget.

Bells: $970.99 
c. Aircards: This cost is not affected by the increase in cost related to the Revised Budget.

Bells: $2,020.80 (4 aircards @ $168.40 per month) 



Page 5 of 6  

4. Increased expenditures in the FY 24-25 Revised Budget:

REDCOM now faces an increase of $1,655,399 as shown in the FY 2024-25 Revised 
Budget. This cost is allocated to all member agencies, EOA and private providers using the 
5-year average call volume, AFTER the AMR adjustment (3.44% instead of 3.32%)

Bells’ share: $1,655,399 * 3.44% = $56,945.71 

In addition, all providers must cover the share of costs originally allocated to AMR, which 
will no longer materialize now that AMR has stopped using REDCOM for its transport 
business. Bells’ share: $3,290 

Bells’ total: $60,164 

5. Payment of the first and second installments based on Adopted FY 24-25 Budget:

Payments to date are deducted. As of February 5, 2025, Bells has already paid $110,448.24 
towards FY 24-25 dues. 

6. Total Revised assessment remaining in FY 24-25:

Upon Board adoption of the FY 24-25 Revised Budget, the total assessment remaining for 
FY 24-25 is as follows: 

Bells 
Step 1 Base contribution (total: 
$758,411) $25,365 

Step 2: Call Budget contribution 
($4,850,745 * 3.32%) $160,984 

Subtotal $186,349 
Step 3: Costs allocated to only some 
agencies 

Tablet Command licenses 
Aircards (4) 

$971 
$2021 

Total due as announced in March 
2024 $189,341 

Additional assessment for increased 
expenditures in FY 24-25 
($1,655,399 * 3.44%) and 
reallocation of AMR’s share for 
January – June 2025 ($3,290) 

$60,164 

REVISED total upon Board adoption $249,505 



Page 6 of 6  

Paid as of Feb 6, 2025 ($110,448) 
Remaining $139,057 

Amount announced in Attachment 2 of the FY 24-25 Revised Budget: $135,900. 

Difference: $3,156 – due to monthly payments instead of installments, Bells is slightly 
behind the 60% that covers installments 1 and 2, but caught up as of January.  



















Member Fees and Direct Charges



Cost allocated to members 7,224,729$      109,194$           100,000$         Direct Charges

# of call per 
calendar year
5-yr Average

% of       
Total Calls

2025-26 
Contribution Range

Base Fee 
Contribution

Total Fee 
contribution of 

Shared Expense
Fire Season 
Dispatcher

Expansion 
Project 

Contribution

Total dispatch 
fees 

Contribution

2025-26
Tablet Command 

Costs
2025-26 Device 
Replacement

2025-26
Aircards
Charge

Total 2025-26 
Device Charges Total Charges

Measure H Eligible Member Agencies 64,637       
Allocated  based 

on % of calls
Account 42610 Account 45507 Fund 78402 

Account 45301 Account 455010

Cazadero CSD 147 0.14% 8,999$  8          3,881$  12,881$              0$               $ 249 139$               $            13,269 1,666$  -$  -$  $ 1,666  $            14,935 
City of Healdsburg              1,915 1.81% 117,078 5          19,404 136,482              2.96% 3,235 1,808                          141,525 7,120 - -              7,120              148,645 
City of Petaluma              7,920 7.48% 484,194 3          38,808 523,002              12.25%               13,379 7,476                          543,857 17,902 5,600 - 23,502              567,359 
City of Santa Rosa            27,950 26.38% 1,708,797 1          226,381              1,935,178           43.24%               47,217 26,382                     2,008,778 34,064 - -              34,064           2,042,842 
City of Sebastopol              1,217 1.15% 74,392 6          12,936 87,328 1.88% 2,056 1,149             90,532 6,567 - -              6,567 97,099 
City of Sonoma - Kenwood              3,533 3.34% 216,010 4          25,872 241,882              5.47% 5,969 3,335                          251,186 - - -                                      -                251,186 
Graton FPD 801 0.76% 48,946 7          5,175 54,121 1.24% 1,352 756 56,229 5,833 - -              5,833 62,062 
Monte Rio FPD 745 0.70% 45,547 7          5,175 50,722 1.15% 1,259 703 52,684 6,285 3,500 - 9,785 62,469 
North Bay Fire -Gold Ridge FPD/CSA40              2,640 2.49% 161,414 4          25,872 187,286              4.08% 4,460 2,492                          194,238 23,285 - -              23,285              217,523 
North Sonoma Coast FPD 368 0.35% 22,486 8          3,881 26,368 0.57% 621 347 27,337 3,184 - -              3,184 30,520 
Northern Sonoma County (Geyserville) 674 0.64% 41,219 7          5,175 46,393 1.04% 1,139 636 48,168 4,953 2,100 - 7,053 55,221 
Occidental CSD 387 0.36% 23,636 8          3,881 27,517 0.60% 653 365 28,535 7,470 2,800 - 10,270 38,805 
Rancho Adobe FPD              2,713 2.56% 165,877 4          25,872 191,749              4.20% 4,584 2,561                          198,894 14,291 5,600 - 19,891              218,784 
Schell-Vista FPD 693 0.65% 42,393 7          5,175 47,567 1.07% 1,171 655 49,393 10,970 7,700 - 18,670 68,063 
Sonoma County Fire District            10,759 10.16% 657,751 3          38,808 696,559              16.64%               18,175 10,155                        724,889 37,576 -                   -   37,576              762,465 
Sonoma Valley Fire              1,819 1.72% 111,209 5          19,404 130,613              2.81% 3,073 1,717                          135,403 24,960 11,550              - 36,510              171,913 
Timber Cove FPD 210 0.20% 12,827 8          3,881 16,708 0.32% 354 198 17,260 899 - -              899 18,160 

Total Measure H eligible Cities and 
Districts 64,491 60.87% 3,942,775$              469,580$            4,412,356$         1$              108,946$          60,873$         4,582,176$        207,026$              38,850$            -$            245,876$            4,828,051$       

Non Measure H Member Agencies Account 42627 Account 45507

Coast Life Support 892 0.84% 54,522$  7          5,175$  59,697$              -$          $ - 842$               $            60,539 -$  -$  -$  $ - $            60,539 
Dry Creek Rancheria 147 0.14% 8,963 8          3,881 12,844 0.23% 248 138 13,230 2,801 - -              2,801 16,032 
Sheriff Helicopter 120 0.11% 7,324 8          3,881 11,205 -                                  -   113 11,318 - - -                                      -   11,318 

Total Non Measure H eligible 
Cities/Districts 1,158 1.09% 70,809$  12,937$              83,746$              0$              248$  1,093$           85,087$             2,801$  -$  -$  2,801$  87,888$            

EOA Providers Account 45301 Account 45507 Account 455010

SCFD-EMS (EOA1) 35,625 33.63% 2,177,988$              1          226,381$            2,404,369$         -$          -$  33,626$          $       2,437,995 34,566$  -$  34,566$              2,472,561$       
Bells (EOA2) 3,654 3.45% 223,408 4          25,872 249,280              - - 3,449                          252,729 3,535 - - 3,535 256,264            

Total EOA Providers 39,279 37.08% 2,401,396$              252,253$            2,653,649$         -$  37,076$         2,690,725$        38,101$  -$  -$  38,101$              2,728,825$       

Private Providers Account 45310 Account 45507 Account 455010

Life West 713 0.67% 43,591$  7          5,175$  48,765$              -$          -$  673$               $            49,438 13,490$  -$  -$  13,490$              62,928$            
REACH 109 0.10% 6,652 8          3,881 10,533 - - 103 10,636 - - -              - 10,636 
AMR 193 0.18% 11,799 8          3,881 15,681 - - 182 15,863 66 - -              66 15,929 

Total Private Providers 1,015 0.96% 62,042$  12,937$              74,979$              -$  958$  75,937$             13,556$  -$  -$  13,556$              89,493$            

Total All Agencies: 105,942 100% 6,477,022$              747,707$            7,224,730$         109,194$          100,000$       7,433,924$        261,484$              38,850$            -$            300,334$            7,734,258$       
all amounts presented rounded to nearest dollar

Page 1 of 1

- 

REDCOM - Member Fees and Direct Charges

Preliminary Budget FY 2025-26



Page 1 of 5 

Board Meeting Date -06/05/2025 

Item 6 

REDCOM 
2796 Ventura Avenue - Santa Rosa, CA  95403 I Tel: (707)568-5992 

STAFF REPORT 

TO: Board of Directors Meeting 

DATE: June 5, 2025 

PREPARED BY:  Ethan Pawson, Counsel 

APPROVED BY: Evonne Stevens 

ITEM 6: SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE REDCOM JOINT POWERS AGREEMENT AND 
PROPOSED REDCOM BYLAWS AMENDMENTS 

RECOMMENDATION 

Discuss the proposed amendments to the REDCOM JPA and Bylaws and provide feedback and 
direction to staff on next steps. 

BACKGROUND 

REDCOM is a Joint Powers Authority currently governed by the First Amended Joint Powers 

Agreement Establishing a Coordinated Public Safety Dispatch System for Fire and 

Emergency Medical Services in Sonoma County (“JPA”), pursuant to California Government 

Code sections 6500, et seq.  The REDCOM JPA was last amended and executed by the 

member agencies in 2019.  The REDCOM Bylaws govern its Board of Directors and were last 

amended in October 2024 to accommodate on-boarding employees. 

Based on recommendations from the AP Triton report and throughout the transition away 

from AMR as a subcontractor, the REDCOM Board recognized the need to make 

adjustments to the REDCOM JPA, which binds all of the member agencies.  In October 2024, 

the Board established an ad hoc committee tasked with reviewing and making suggested 

edits to the JPA and Bylaws. 

The JPA is an agreement among all the member agencies which must be approved and 

executed by each governing body, district board, or city council of the member agencies.  The 

Bylaws are a Board document that only requires approval by a majority of the REDCOM 

Board in order to make amendments.  However, the two documents cross-reference each 

other so staff are presenting proposed edits to both documents here for full Board 

consideration and deliberation. 

DISCUSSION 



Page 2 of 5 

Board Meeting Date -06/05/2025 

1. JPA

The amendments to the JPA reflect a number of clarifications, definitions, and non-substantive 
amendments that improve consistency in terminology and updates to modern operations of 
REDCOM.  In addition to these clerical changes, there are a number of substantive items that staff 
would like to highlight for Board discussion and deliberation.  

a. Gov. Code section 6509 clause: as required by State law governing Joint Powers
Authorities, the JPA now includes a clause designating the County of Sonoma as the
member agency whose powers and authorities restrict and limit the powers of the
Authority.  The County was chosen as the entity with the broadest authority under State
law and due to the County’s existing role in providing accounting and legal services to
REDCOM.

b. Board Composition: the amended JPA now includes the following Board members:

1. Largest City by call volume
2. Largest Fire District by call volume
3. A City or Fire District that provides ambulance transport, selected by a majority vote

of all cities and districts that provide ambulance transport.
4. A City, Fire District or Special District elected by majority vote of all member

agencies.
5. Public provider of ambulance but not fire services, elected by majority vote of

member agencies that provide ambulance but not fire protection services
6. Sonoma County EMSA Regional Administrator
7. County representative nominated by at least 4 of the other 6 Directors

For comparison, the prior version of the JPA included the following Board composition:  

• 3 of 7 seats from agencies providing fire protection services
➢ 1 of these shall be the agency with the largest call volume
➢ Remaining 2 shall entities providing fire protection services, selected by a

majority of all member agencies
➢ At least 1 but no more than 2 of these agencies from cities providing fire

protection services
• 1 seat from an agency providing ambulance services but not fire protection services
• 1 seat for the Sonoma County EMSA Regional Administrator
• 1 seat for Sonoma County Public Health Officer, or their medically qualified

designee
• 1 seat at large, elected by the other 6 directors

c. Gov. Code section 6505.5 Auditor and Treasurer Appointment: The amended JPA
affirmatively identifies the Sonoma County ACTTC as the Auditor/Treasurer of
REDCOM, rather than leaving it open ended.  This change reflects the current status for
REDCOM and better complies with State law.

d. Budget Clarifications: The amended JPA includes a number of corrections and
clarifications around the Budget process and identifies the EOA providers and private
providers as contributors to the cost allocation methodology.   Section 12.b.iii was added
to include a “Contingencies” element to the annual budget. Section 12.d clarifies the
imposition of penalties for late payment of member assessments. Section 13 also
includes some revisions reflecting that EOA providers and private providers contribute
to REDCOM’s funding sources and the cost allocation among member agencies.

e. Termination: Section 16 was amended to clarify the apportionment of costs in the



Page 3 of 5 

Board Meeting Date -06/05/2025 

event of termination of an individual agency or a rescission of the JPA by all member 
agencies.  These changes reflect that the cost allocation methodology will be utilized to 
apportion costs among member agencies in the event of termination. 

f. Section 18 – EOA Providers: Section 18 was added to the JPA to account for cost
allocation in the event that a member agency becomes an EOA provider, such as the
recent change to have SCFD as the provider in EOA 1.  The new language states that
such a change will not result in an adverse effect for the member assessment to
unrelated member agencies and that the new EOA provider shall adopt the prior EOA
provider’s five-year rolling call volume for the purposes of cost allocation among
member agencies. In addition, the call volume for the EOA shall be considered
independently from the member agency’s existing call volume external to the EOA  for
the purposes of calculating the cost of service within the EOA.  In staff’s opinion, this
language is critical to the ongoing solvency of REDCOM and ensuring that there are not
extreme increases in the future to the member assessments of member agencies that
are not involved in the EOAs.

g. Membership: Amendments to Section 19 (formerly section 18) allow for the admission
of new members that do not have a primary service jurisdiction in Sonoma County. This
allows expansion into new jurisdictions (e.g. Mendocino County) and the future vision
for a Regional Command Center led by REDCOM.  Other amendments to Section 19
include clarifications around admission of new members and elimination of an
allowance for the REDCOM Board to charge less than the actual cost of admitting new
members, ensuring that any new additions to REDCOM pay their fair share to join the
Joint Powers Authority.  Section 19.b was also amended to clarify that removal of a
member agency requires a supermajority vote (rather than 2/3s vote) and an
opportunity for the removed member to be heard at a public hearing of the Board.

2. Bylaws

The Bylaws include a various clerical as well as substantive edits that were not captured by our 
prior Bylaws action in October 2024.  As described above, the Bylaws define and govern the 
power and authority of the REDCOM Board rather than the member agencies. Significant 
changes to the Bylaws include the following: 

a. Statement of Intent:  a new Section 1 was added to the Bylaws including a recital about
the intent of the Bylaws document and its role for REDCOM.

b. Calling a Special Meeting: Section 2.a.i. was amended to clarify that the Chair of the
Board is authorized to call a special meeting.  In the absence of the Chair, a majority of
the remaining Board members may call a special meeting in compliance with the Brown
Act.

c. Executive Director: Section 2.a.iv was added to define the role and authority of the
REDCOM Executive Director. This includes responsibility for operations, staffing, budget
preparation, supervising Board committees, serving as Clerk of the Board, purchasing
agent, and custodian of records.  The Executive Director may also appoint a Clerk to
publish agenda, prepare meeting minutes, coordinate Board meetings, and other
administrative activities of the Board.

d. Elections: Section 2.b was amended to state that officer elections will be held at the first



Page 4 of 5 

Board Meeting Date -06/05/2025 

regular meeting of the fiscal year, instead of specifically at the first meeting in July.  This 
adds flexibility and accommodates Board scheduling around the Fourth of July holiday.  

e. Regular Meetings: Section 3 (formerly section 2) was amended to state that the four
annual regular meetings shall be held on or about the first or second week of February,
March, July, and October, instead of specifically on the first Thursday of those months.
This was also intended to increase flexibility and remain consistent with the terms of the
JPA.

f. Code of Conduct and Conflict of Interest Code: Sections 4 and 5 (formerly sections 3
and 4) added clarifying language around adoption of a Code of Conduct for the Board and
a Conflict of Interest Code, as required by State law. Staff will bring forward policies on
each of these items at a later date.

g. Composition of the DOAG: the composition of the Dispatch Operations Advisory Group
is amended to include representatives from the following entities:

1. CalFIRE ECC Chief
2. At least one city
3. At least one independent district
4. Volunteer fire departments within Sonoma County
5. The EOA 1 provider
6. An agency that provides both fire protection and ambulance services
7. The LEMSA

These changes are largely modernization of the language and non-substantive edits to the 
existing DOAG composition. The major substantive change is the addition of the LEMSA 
representative, which was not identified in the existing Bylaws. Additionally, a sentence was 
added to clarify that no agency shall occupy more than one seat on the DOAG. 

h. “20% Rule” for major financial commitments: Amendments to Section 8 (formerly
section 7) include clarification that the 20% rule applies only outside of the annual budget
adoption process, such as the Budget Amendment that the Board approved in early 2025.
The language now compares the new major financial commitment to the last approved
operating expenditure budget, rather than to the budget for the prior fiscal year. The 2/3
membership vote requirement remains for any new major financial commitments
approved by the Board.

i. Termination: Section 9 (formerly section 8) is amended such that the Board now has 90
days (rather than 60 days) to provide an estimate of costs due to REDCOM by the
terminating member agency. Other minor amendments were made to clarify the types of
costs owed upon termination and to make the language consistent with changes to the
20% Rule described above.

j. Insurance:  Staff are also considering an amendment to the insurance provisions
included in Section 10 (formerly section 9) to remove the recommendation that member
agencies maintain their own insurance covering the operations of REDCOM.  This reflects
the current circumstances where REDCOM maintains its own insurance policies
consistent with the requirements of Section 10, including an endorsement that the
member agencies are additional insureds and REDCOM’s policy shall be primary to the
named additional insureds.  This change has not yet been included in the draft Bylaws
before your Board, but staff is interested in Board direction on the insurance provision
going forward.



Page 5 of 5 

Board Meeting Date -06/05/2025 

FISCAL IMPACTS 

There are no direct fiscal impacts to amending the REDCOM JPA or Bylaws 

ATTACHMENTS 

DRAFT – Second Amended Joint Powers Agreement 
DRAFT – REDCOM Bylaws 



Page 1 of 15 

FIRST SECOND AMENDED JOINT POWERS AGREEMENT ESTABLISHING A  
COORDINATED PUBLIC SAFETY DISPATCH SYSTEM FOR 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES  
BASED IN SONOMA COUNTY 

This First Second Amended Joint Powers Agreement Establishing a Coordinated 
Public Safety Dispatch System for Fire and Emergency Medical Services based in 
Sonoma County (hereinafter, the "Agreement") is entered into by and between the 
undersigned members as of [DATE] June 30, 2007, pursuant to the provisions of Title I, 
Division 7, Chapter 5, Article I (Sections 6500, et seq.) of the California Government 
Code (hereinafter the "Act'') relating to joint exercise of powers by public agencies. 

RECITALS 

A. Certain fire protection districts, ambulance service districts, cities and the County
of Sonoma entered into the initial Joint Powers Agreement Establishing a Coordinated
Public Safety Dispatch System for Fire and Emergency Medical Services in Sonoma
County, effective on June 30, 2002, pursuant to the Act (hereinafter, the "First JPA
Agreement"). The resulting joint powers authority entity (hereinafter,
"JPAAuthority") was named the Redwood Empire Dispatch Communications Authority,
or "REDCOM".

B. The undersigned members believe that the First JPA Agreement has enabled
REDCOM to successfully pursue its mission of consolidating the fire and emergency
medical dispatch services among the parties thereto, to provide a more effective and
efficient coordination of dispatch services for the benefit of the public.

C. By its own terms, the First JPA Agreement terminateds on June 30, 2007, unless
otherwise extended by the parties. In 2007, the members of REDCOM entered into a
subsequent Joint Powers Agreement (hereinafter “JPA”) in order to extend the term of the
First JPA Agreement and to continue the mission of coordinated public safety dispatch
within Sonoma County.

C.D. In 2019, the parties entered into the First Amended Joint Powers Agreement,
making further amendments and clarifications to the JPA executed in 2007.

D.E. The undersigned members (also called the "PartiesMember Agencies" herein)
desire to extend the term of the First further amend the JPA Agreement to enable reflect
recent transitions to REDCOM’s to funding sources, make clarifications regarding
member assessments, adjust the Board composition, allow for expanded membership
outside Sonoma County, and to make other administrative and clerical
corrections.continue to function as a JPA entity and pursue its mission, as well as make
additional modifications to the terms and conditions of that agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, THE PARTIES MEMBER AGENCIES HEREBY AGREE 
TO THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS SET FORTH BELOW. 



AGREEMENT 

The Parties Member Agencies agree that the terms and conditions of the First 
Amended Joint Powers A Agreement are hereby amended, modified and replaced in their 
entirety, as set forth below (for ease of reference, all terms and conditions are set forth 
below regardless of whether or not they are amended or modified). This Agreement is 
effective beginning [DATE] June 30, 2007. 

1. Recitals. The Recitals set forth above are true and correct.

2. Definitions:

a. Authority:  The Redwood Empire Dispatch Communications Authority or
“REDCOM,” a joint powers authority established among the Member 
Agencies pursuant to California Government Code section 6500, et seq. 

b. Communications Center: The centralized facility (including staff, equipment,
etc.) used for coordinated emergency response, dispatch and management, 
serving as the hub for all communication, resource allocation, and incident 
coordination during an emergency. A Communications Center can also be 
mobile and operate from a vehicle.  

c. Emergency Command Center: A centralized communications response center
that includes incident command and coordination between fire, Emergency 
Medical Services and other emergency resources. It is staffed with a 
combination of emergency coordination and fire liaison staff, dispatchers, 
calltakers, a director, communication/operation manager(s) and technical 
personnel. Staff may be cross trained to handle a multitude of positions.  

d. EOA Provider: The exclusive provider of emergency medical transport
within an Exclusive Operating Area (EOA) as defined and designated by the 
County of Sonoma. An EOA Provider can be a Member Agency or a Private 
Provider under contract with the County of Sonoma. 

e. Member Agencies: The public entities that are signatories to this Agreement
and members of the Authority. 

f. Private Provider: Private organization that provides emergency services,
transport, or other related services and contract with the Authority for 
dispatch services. Private Providers are not Member Agencies of the 
Authority.  

2.3. General Purpose of Agreement. The purpose of this Agreement is to establish 
a joint powers agency authority that efficiently and effectively provides a consolidated 
public safety communications Facility and staff for the coordinated public safety 
dispatch of fire and emergency medical services through the operation of a 

Page 2 of 15



Page 3 of 15 

Communications Center (or Emergency Command Center) and a back-up 
communications system. The PartiesMember Agencies intend that additional public 
agencies that provide fire protection and/or ambulance services in Sonoma County, 
not presently executing this Agreement, may join the joint powers agency authority in 
the future subject to the applicable terms and conditions stated in this Agreement. 
The coordinated public safety cCommunications Center (or Emergency Command 
Center) facility may also provide fire and emergency services dispatch services on a 
contractual basis to other governmental and private entities. 

The PartiesMember Agencies also intend to utilize flexible, cost effective, and 
efficient methods of providing the coordinated public safety dispatch of fire and 
emergency medical services, including a back-up communications system. The 
methods used in future years to provide these services may differ from those 
initially established under this Agreement. Any such changes shall be determined 
by the Board of Directors of the Authority. 

3.4. Joint Powers Authority Created. Pursuant to Section 6506 of the Act, the 
PartiesMember Agencies create a public entity, separate and apart from the 
PartiesMember Agencies to this Agreement, to be known as the Redwood Empire 
Dispatch Communications Authority (hereinafter referred to as the "Authority"). 
The debts, liabilities and obligations of the Authority shall not constitute debts, 
liabilities and/ or obligations of any of the PartiesMember Agencies. 

4.5. Authority Services. The Authority shall provide the following services: 

a. the coordinated public safety dispatch of fire and emergency medical
services to the PartiesMember Agencies who are members of the Authority,
and to those public and private agencies who contract with the Authority for
those services. Dispatch of emergency medical services shall meet certain
minimum medical standards as per agreement with the Countydetermined by
the appropriate local emergency medical services agency (LEMSA).

b. administrative and operational management of the Authority. dispatch and
management information services to participating Parties. 

c. process and document emergency calls for service.

d. monitor the status of field unit activity.

e. process and document non-emergency calls for service associated with
field resources.

f. process and document field initiated activity.

g. obtain and maintain adequate facility, ground based and mobile radio



Page 4 of 15 

systems, CAD systems, and other required equipment. 

h. arrange for needed staff to carry out the services provided, and a
comprehensive training program.

i. such other services as may be added in the future by agreement among
the PartiesMember Agencies.

5.6. Powers and Duties. 

a. Authority. The Authority shall have the powers common to the
PartiesMember Agencies as set forth in Recitals of this Agreement, to wit: the
power to acquire sites and construct, equip, staff, maintain, operate, and lease
public buildings and related facilities for the purpose of providing for public
safety communications in Sonoma County.

Pursuant to the Act (Government Code Sections 6508 and 6509), all 
common powers exercised by the Authority shall be exercised in a manner 
consistent with, and subject to, the restrictions and limitations upon the exercise 
of such powers as are applicable to the County of Sonoma, a general law county.  

The Authority is authorized in its own name to perform all acts necessary 
for the exercise of common powers, including, but not limited to, any or all of the 
following: 

i) to make and enter into contracts;

ii) to employ agents and employees and to obtain legal, financial,
accounting, technical, and other services as needed to carry out its
mission;

iii) to acquire, construct, manage, maintain and operate any
buildings, works, or improvements;

iv) to acquire, hold, lease, or dispose of property;

v) to incur debts, liabilities or obligations, but no debt, liability or
obligation of the Authority shall be a debt, liability or obligation of any of
the PartiesMember Agencies, except as otherwise provided herein;

vi) to receive gifts, contributions and donation of property and
funds, services and other forms of financial assistance, from persons, firms
and corporations and any governmental entity;

vii) to rent or lease communications services to non-public agencies;



Page 5 of 15 

viii) to sue and be sued in its own name.

Such powers shall be exercised in the manner provided in the Act subject 
only to such restrictions as set forth in this Agreement and as imposed upon the 
PartiesMember Agencies in the exercise of similar powers. 

Pursuant to Section 6504 to the Act, in the absence of alternate revenue 
sources, the Authority is empowered and by this Agreement required to assess 
the PartiesMember Agencies to finance the entire operation of the Authority in 
the manner set forth in this Agreement. 

b. Board of Directors. The Board of Directors, as the governing and
administrative body of the Authority, shall formulate and set policy, and shall
exercise the powers set forth in this Agreement to accomplish its purpose. The
Board is responsible for development of a consolidated fire and emergency
medical services cCommunications cCenter (or Emergency Command Center)
and program, for the leasing or purchase of a Facility and/ or acquisition of
equipment, personnel staffing and full time maintenance and operations of
related equipment and facilitiesa Facility.

6.7. Governance 

a. Board of Directors. The Authority shall be governed by a Board of
Directors having seven (7) members. Unless otherwise specified herein, each
Director shall be an elected or appointed official of separate mMember
aAgencies. The seven (7) members shall be as follows:

i. One Director shall represent the largest city by call volume.

ii. One Director shall represent the largest fire protection district by call
volume. 

iii. One Director shall represent a city or fire protection district that provides
ambulance transport, selected by a majority vote of all Member Agencies 
that are cities or fire protection districts that provide ambulance transport. 

iv. One Director shall represent a city, fire protection district, or special
district selected by a majority vote of all Member Agencies. 

v. One Director shall be from a selected Member Agency that provides
ambulance services but does not provide fire protection services. Said 
Director shall be selected by a majority vote of Member Agencies that 
provide ambulance services but not fire protection services.  

vi. One Director shall be the person holding the position of Regional



Page 6 of 15 

Administrator (or in the case of a temporary vacancy of that office, Acting 
Administrator) of the Sonoma County Emergency Medical Services 
Agency. 

vii. One Director shall be a County of Sonoma representative, nominated by at
least four (4) of the other six (6) Directors. 

No Member Agency shall occupy more than one seat on the Board of Directors. 
At no time shall there be fewer than two (2) Directors from Member Agencies that 
are cities. At no time shall there be fewer than two (2) Directors from Member 
Agencies that are special districts and/or fire protection districts.  

i) Three (3) of the seven (7) Directors shall be from separate member
agencies that provide fire protection services. One (1) of these three (3)
Directors shall be from the member agency with the highest call volume.
"Call Volume" means the annual total number of emergency requests for
service within the member agency's jurisdiction. The other two (2)
Directors shall be selected from separate member agencies by a majority
vote of all member agencies, or their designees, providing fire protection
services. At no time shall there be fewer than one (1) Director nor more
than two (2) of these three (3) Directors from member agencies that are
cities who provide fire protection services.

ii) One Director shall be from a selected member agency which
provides ambulance services but does not provide fire protection services.
Said Director shall be selected by a majority vote of member agencies, or
their designees, which provide ambulance services but not fire protection
services.

iii) One Director shall be the person holding the position of Regional
Administrator (or in the case of a temporary vacancy of that office, Acting
Administrator) of the Sonoma County Emergency Medical Services
Agency.

iv) One Director shall be the Sonoma County Public Health Officer
or his/her medically qualified designee.

v) The seventh Director shall be elected by a majority vote of the other
six (6) Directors. Said vote shall occur no later than eleven (11) months
prior to the expiration of the seventh Director's term or the sitting seventh
Director shall be deemed to have been reappointed.

b. Continuing Terms. As of the Effective Date of this Agreement, all
individual members on the Board of Directors shall continue to serve their terms



of office uninterrupted. 

c. Normal Term of Office of Directors. Each Director shall serve a four (4)
year term of office. All Directors, except the persons holding the position of
Director Regional Administrator of the Sonoma County EMS Agency, the Sonoma
County Public Health Officer,  and the seventh Director as described in paragraph
67(a)(vii5), shall serve at the will and pleasure of their respective agencies and
may be replaced at any time and without cause by the mMember aAgency that
initially appointed the Director. Any replacement Director shall serve out the
balance of the term of the member being replaced.

d. Alternates. Any Board Director may, from time to time, appoint an
alternate to serve in the Director's place at any meeting. Any such alternate shall
be a government employee or official from the same Member Agency as the
Board Member.

7.8. Meetings of the Board of Directors 

a. Conducting Meetings. The Board shall hold regular meetings at least
quarterly four (4) times annually and shall adopt bylaws for conducting their
meetings and other business. All meetings of the Boards, including without
limitation regular, adjourned regular and special meetings, shall be called,
noticed and conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Ralph M.
Brown Act (commencing with Section 54950 of the California Government
Code).

b. Quorum and Decision Making Methods. A majority of voting members of
the board shall constitute a quorum. Decisions shall be made by a minimum of
four (4) votes of voting members present except where otherwise required by
law or established by bBoard bylaws or other provisions of this Agreement.

c. Board Officers. The Board shall have a Chair to preside at and conduct all
meetings and a Vice Chair who shall succeed the Chair and preside in absence
of the Chair. The offices of Chair and Vice Chair shall rotate through each of
the seats on the Board annually in a manner to be determined by the bylaws.
No member shall retain the same office two (2) years in succession as a result
of appointment to a separate seat.

d. Voting. Each Director, or his alternate, shall be entitled to one vote. Any
decision of the Board of Directors shall require four (4) votes to be effective
except when this Agreement specifically provides that a supermajority or
unanimous vote is required. A supermajority of the Board shall be defined as
five (5) votes.

8.9. Limitation on Powers. The Board of Directors of the Authority shall have 

 

Page 7 of 15



Page 8 of 15 

all powers available under the Act to perform the services set forth in this 
Agreement, except that the issuance of new Authority debt (or increases in debt 
service payments required from mMember PartiesAgencies) in an amount in excess 
of 20% of the Authority's operating budget for the prior fiscal year must first be 
approved by a supermajority (2/3) vote of the membershipMember Agencies. 

9.10. Appointed Officers. Pursuant to Government Code Section 6505.56, the Board of 
Directors shall appoint an Auditor and a Treasurer for the Authority to perform the 
duties required by law as well as provide other services as may be desired by the 
Authority. Should theappoints the County of Sonoma Auditor, Controller,  and County 
Treasurer, Tax Collector (ACTTC) be willing to serve, they may  to serve the Authority 
as Auditor and Treasurer, or the Authority may select another eligible Auditor and 
Treasurer to perform such duties. Such officers shall receive no compensation for 
holding the appointed office but shall be compensated for the cost of providing services 
as per written agreement with the Authority. 

10.11. Frequencies. Each Party Member Agency retains the ownership of its radio 
frequencies, but shall make the use of each such frequency available to Authority 
and each Party Member Agency for the purpose of carrying out the provisions of this 
Agreement. 

11.12. Fiscal Year and Annual Budget/Financing 

a. Fiscal Year. The Authority's fiscal year shall be the twelve (12) month
period commencing each July 1, except if the effective date of this Agreement is
other than July 1, the first fiscal year shall be the short year commencing the
effective date and ending the following June 30.

b. Annual Budget. The Authority shall operate only under an approved
fiscal year operating budget. The Authority may not operate at a deficit. The
Parties Member Agencies, EOA Providers, and Private Providers shall pay for
their share of the entire operation of the Authority, with the annual operating
expenditure budget determining the total amount of assessment required. Once
adopted annually for each fiscal year, the total annual expenditure budget may
only be increased by supermajority vote of the Board of Directors. The Authority
will adopt an preliminary annual operating budget no later than March 15 for the
following fiscal year and will adopt a final budget in accordance with applicable
state law. The Authority shall notify each Member Agency, EOA Provider, and
contracting Private Provider of its share of the Authority's annual cost for the
following fiscal year no later than April 1.

c. Budget Elements. The Board of Directors, in adopting an annual budget,
thereby fixes the assessment against the PartiesMember Agencies which is
binding thereon. The budget policy shall include, but is not limited to, the
following components:



Page 9 of 15 

i) Operation and Maintenance Expenses. The costs of operating
and maintaining a facility Communications Center (or Emergency
Command Center) and the communications/computer equipment
housed therein shall include, but is not limited to, personnel salaries and
benefits, office and computer supplies and other consumables,
payments to lease a facility, and replacement parts necessary to repair
facility equipment due to normal wear and tear from ordinary usage.

ii) Capital Expenditures. Capital expenditures shall include the
costs of original purchase of communications and computer equipment,
hardware, software and other fixed asset type items typically having
with a useful life of more than one (1) yeardetermined by the REDCOM
Capital Assets and Depreciation Policy, including equipment
improvements and additions, as opposed to replacement parts for
ordinary maintenance during the useful life of the capital items. All
costs associated with such purchase, such as installation, shall be
capitalized. Replacement of equipment at the end of its useful life shall
be a capital item.

ii)iii) Contingencies. The Authority’s annual budget shall include a
reasonable provision for contingencies.

Operations, maintenance, and Ccapital expenditures shall be shared 
by the PartiesMember Agencies, EOA Providers and Private Providers in 
conformance with the cost formula established by this Agreement, except 
for the operations, maintenance, and capital expenditures which are 
incurred for and are unique to a minority of the PartiesMember Agencies, 
in which case such minority share the expense amongst themselves 
through a cost allocation formula approved by the Board of Directors. 

d. Assessments. Upon adoption of the fiscal year budget by the Board of
Directors, and the forwarding thereof to the governing bodies of the
PartiesMember Agencies by the Board Secretary, unless otherwise specified by the
order of the Board of Directors, the assessments fixed therein are automatically
due and payable without further notice as follows:

July 15: 

October 15: 

January 15: 

April 15: 

35% of total assessment 

25% of total assessment 

25% of total assessment 

15% of total assessment 



Page 10 of 15 

The Board of Directors may set a different payment schedule, for any reason 
including, but not limited to, to providinge for adequate cash flow for operations 
and maintenance expenses and/or capital purchases, or to accommodate the influx 
of different revenue sources, as needed. 

After (30) calendar days, A the Authority reserves the right to apply a 
late charge of up to five percent (5)%) late charge shall be imposed upon 
assessment payments not promptly received by the Authority within thirty (30) 
calendar days following the scheduled dates for payment. An additional five 
percent (5)%) charge shall be imposed if payment is not made within an 
additional thirty (30) calendar days. If an assessment, including late charges, 
is not paid in full within seventy five (75) calendar days following any 
scheduled due datethe initial assessment of the late charge, the Party Member 
Agency shall be in default and the Board of Directors will determine the 
appropriate penalty at its next public meeting, including potential and subject 
to immediate and automatic termination in accordance with this Agreement. 

e. Annual Notification. The Authority shall notify each participating agency
and contracting private provider of its share of the Authority's annual cost for
the following fiscal year no later than April 1.

12. Funding and Cost Allocation. The Authority's annual budget shall
include a reasonable provision for contingencies as well as financing for the 
maintenance, upgrade, or ultimate replacement of key fixed assets and structures. 

13. The Authority shall endeavor to provide its services in the most cost effective
manner available without compromising quality standards. The Authority shall
endeavor to allocate all costs fairly and equitably to all participating Member
aAgencies, EOA Providers, and approved Private pProviders. The Authority shall
endeavor to maximize external revenue sources to proportionately offset all
Member Agencies’ member assessments.

The Authority shall consider all available funding options to finance its costs.
These shall include but are not limited to: charges to mMember PartiesAgencies, EOA 
Providers, and Private Providers for baseline services, charges to mMember Parties 
Agencies, EOA Providers, and Private Providers for enhanced or additional services, 
charges for contract services provided to other agencies and Private Providers, taxes, 
bonds, and federal or state or private grants. 

Costs charged by the Authority to mMember aAgencies, EOA Providers, and 
approved Private pProviders shall be allocated based on a five-year rolling average of 
call volumes. The Board shall establish the methodology for determining the volume of 
calls. The percentage allocations may also be revised at any time by the Board of 
Directors to accommodate the addition, if any, of new providers or the annexations or 



consolidations between members as per the provisions of this Agreement. 

The Board of Directors shall also establish the charges to mMember 
PartiesAgencies, EOA Providers, approvedPrivate pProviders, and others to cover the 
costs for any enhanced or, additional or contract services. 

14. Dispatch Operations Advisory BodyGroup. There shall be an advisory body
to review and recommend operational policies and procedures that guide the day-to-
day operations of the dispatch center. The advisory body will also serve to provide
technical advice and function as a link between field operations resources and the
dispatch Communications Ccenter (or Emergency Command Center). The members
of the advisory body shall be appointed by the Board of Directors as set forth in the
By Laws.

15. Appeals to the Board of Directors. Any mMember aAgency shall have the
right to appeal any implemented or recommended policy or procedure to the
Authority's Board of Directors for final determination should, in the opinion of the
member agency, such policy or procedure pose a significant impact on the member
agency. In such cases, the Authority's Board of Directors shall need a supermajority
vote, to approve the policy or recommendation.

16. Term of Agreement and Termination Provisions.  This Agreement shall
be deemed to go into effect on June 30, 2007[DATE] (the "Effective Date"), and shall
continue in full force and effect until rescinded or terminated, as set forth below.

a. Termination of Individual Membership. Any mMember Agency may
terminate its participation in this Agreement by giving written notice to the Board of 
Directors not less than one year and 120 days before the start of the fiscal year, which 
termination shall be effective only on the beginning of the next fiscal year. 

i) If a mMember Agency terminates its participation in this 
Agreement, it shall pay its portion of the costs for which it is responsible for paying up to 
the date of termination pursuant to the cost allocation methodology provided by this 
Agreement. In addition, a terminating mMember Agency shall also be required to pay its 
proportionate share, as determined by the Board of Directors, of remaining unpaid costs/ 
debts related to any and all tangible and intangible property (including but not limited to, 
costs of equipment, leases, facilities, improvements, etc.), as well as the actual costs 
associated with its membership termination (including but not limited to, staff time 
required to change existing systems). Any payments due under this section shall be 
paid within ninety (90) days after the effective date of termination. 

ii) Termination of this Agreement by any Party Member Agency shall 
not be construed as a completion of the purpose of this Agreement, and shall not 
require the repayment or return to the remaining PartiesMember Agencies of all or 
any part of any contributions, payments, or advances made by the partiesMember 

Page 11 of 15 



Agencies until this Agreement is rescinded or terminated as to all PartiesMember 
Agencies. Further, the Board of Directors of the Authority has the discretion and 
authority to determine how to address any claims of ownership and/ or possession of 
any property by a terminating party Member Agency (except as to radio frequencies). 

b. Rescission of Agreement by All PartiesMember Agencies. At any time, this
Agreement may be rescinded and terminated, and the Authority may be dissolved, by a 
unanimous vote of all PartiesMember Agencies. In such an event, the remaining assets 
and liabilities shall be apportioned among all PartiesMember Agencies according to the 
relative assessments paid by those PartiesMember Agencies, exclusive of late charges, 
from June 30, 2002, up to for the five years immediately preceding the point of 
termination. 

17. Consolidations, Divisions and Annexations of PartiesMember Agencies.
Consolidations of PartiesMember Agencies with other PartiesMember Agencies or
with non-member agencies, divisions of PartiesMember Agencies into two or more
entities, and annexations of portions of PartiesMember Agencies shall have no
adverse effect on the cost assessments of uninvolved PartiesMember Agencies. In the
event that involved PartiesMember Agencies cannot come to agreement with regards
to adjustments to cost assessments between themselves, the Board of Directors shall
resolve the matter after considering and hearing from the affected PartiesMember
Agencies.

17. Exclusive Operating Area Providers. In the event a Member Agency becomes
the emergency medical services provider within an Exclusive Operating Area (EOA)
designated by the County of Sonoma, there shall be no adverse effect on the member
assessments of the other Member Agencies unrelated and unaffected by the EOA. An
incoming EOA provider shall adopt the prior EOA provider’s five-year call volume
average (after reflecting the new EOA Provider’s service delivery model) for the
purposes of calculating the incoming EOA provider’s new contribution to reflect the
increased dispatch services provided by the Authority. The call volume (or
equivalent measure of service) in the EOA shall be considered separately and
independently from the call volume of the Member Agency for the purposes of
calculating the member assessments for the Member Agency providing emergency
medical services within the EOA.

18. 

18.19. Membership.  The Authority shall be open to membership by all cities, 
independent districts, and other public agencies which have a primary service 
jurisdiction for that provide fire protection and/ or ambulance services in Sonoma County. 

a. Admission of New Members. The Board of Directors has the authority to 
admit new members to the Authority, after notice to existing members and an 
opportunity for them to be heard at a public meeting. The Board may set the terms and 

Page 12 of 15 



Page 13 of 15 

conditions for admitting new members (either individually or generally) that it deems 
appropriate. 

b. Cost of Admitting New Members. The Board of Directors shall determine
the cost of admitting any new members to the Authority, including any buy-in costs or 
on-going assessments and charges the new members will be required to pay the 
Authority. It shall have the discretion to charge new members less than the actual cost 
of admission as an initial incentive; however, ultimately tThe Board is responsible for 
assessing costs to new members based on the actual costs incurred and in the manner 
assessed to other mMember aAgencies. 

c. New Member Obligations. Each agency accepted as a new member shall
be required to pay all required costs as determined by the Board of Directors, as well as 
sign a copy of this Agreement or an acknowledgement that it is bound to all the terms 
and conditions herein (at the discretion of the Authority). 

d. Removal of Member. The Board of Directors may remove any mMember
Agency from the Authority for good cause, including, but not limited to, failure to pay 
required costs or compromising the function or integrity of the dispatch system. Such 
removal can be effectuated only upon a 2/3 supermajority vote of the Board of Directors 
after providing the affected mMember Agency (and all other mMember Agencies) with 
at least 30 days written notice of the intended removal and an opportunity to be heard at 
a public meeting of the Board of Directors. A mMember Agency removed from the 
Authority pursuant to the provisions of this section will be deemed to have terminated its 
membership, and shall be required to comply with the payment provisions of Section 
165(a)(i), as well as all other applicable requirements. 

19.20. Amendments to Agreement.  Except for the admission of a new member, 
this Agreement may be amended or modified only by a unanimous vote of the 
Member Agencies which are Parties of this Agreement. Any amendments to this 
Agreement shall be in writing and signed by all mMember Agencies. 

20.21. Severability. Should any part, term, portion or provision of this Agreement, or 
the application thereof to any person or circumstances, be in conflict with any State or 
Federal law, or otherwise be rendered unenforceable or ineffectual, the validity of the 
remaining parts, terms, portions, or provisions, or the application thereof to other 
persons or circumstances, shall be deemed severable and shall not be affected thereby, 
provided such remaining portions or provisions can be construed in substance to 
continue to constitute the Agreement that the PartiesMember Agencies intended to enter 
into in the first instance. 

21.22. Insurance. The Authority shall be required to obtain insurance, or join a self- 
insurance program(s) in which one or more of the PartiesMember Agencies 
participate, appropriate for its operations. Any and all insurance coverages provided 
by the Authority, and/ or any self-insurance programs joined by the Authority, shall 
name each and every Party Member Agency to this agreement as an additional 



Page 14 of 15

insured for all liability arising out of or in connection with the operations by or on 
behalf of the named insured in the performance of this Agreement. Minimum levels 
of the insurance or self-insurance program shall be set by the Authority in its ordinary 
course of business. The Authority shall also require all of its contractors and 
subcontractors to have insurance appropriate for their operations. 

22.23. Indemnity. The Authority shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the 
PartiesMember Agencies their officers, agents, servants, employees and volunteers 
from any and all claims, losses, costs or liability resulting to any person, firm or 
corporation or any other public or private entity for damages of any kind, including, 
but not limited to, injury, harm, sickness or death to persons and/ or property from 
any cause whatsoever arising from or in any way connected with the performance of 
all operations and exercise of its powers except from any such claim arising solely out 
of acts or omissions attributable to the mMember AgencyParty  or its officers, 
employees, volunteers or agents. 

PartiesMember Agencies shall indemnify the Authority in the same manner above 
for all non-dispatch incidents and non-dispatch related emergency operations or 
response. 

23.24. Successors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit 
of the successors of the PartiesMember Agencies hereto. 

24.25. Notice of Creation. A notice of the creation of the Authority by this Agreement, 
and its subsequent amendment, shall be filed by the Authority with the Secretary of 
State, pursuant to Section 6503.5 of the Act. 

25.26. Other Notices.  Notices other than the Notice of Creation required or permitted 
to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing. Delivery of such notices shall be 
conclusively taken and sufficiently given forty-eight (48) hours after deposit in the 
United States Mail, return receipt requested, with the postage thereon fully prepaid, 
addressed to the Authority as follows: 

REDCOM Dispatch Center Manager 
Executive Director 
 2796 Ventura Avenue 
Santa Rosa, CA 95403 

Notices to the PartiesMember Agencies shall be provided in the same manner 
as above, addressed as set forth in the signature page hereto. The Authority may 
change its address above for notices by giving written notice as described above to all 
PartiesMember Agencies. Any Party Member Agency may change its address for 
notices by giving written notice as described above to the Authority. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the PartiesMember Agencies hereto have caused 



Page 15 of 15

this Agreement to be executed and attested by their proper officers thereunto duly 
authorized, as of the day and year first above written. 



Page 1 of 13 

SECOND AMENDED JOINT POWERS AGREEMENT ESTABLISHING A 
COORDINATED PUBLIC SAFETY DISPATCH SYSTEM FOR 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES  
BASED IN SONOMA COUNTY 

This Second Amended Joint Powers Agreement Establishing a Coordinated 
Public Safety Dispatch System for Fire and Emergency Medical Services based in 
Sonoma County (hereinafter, the "Agreement") is entered into by and between the 
undersigned members as of  __________________, pursuant to the provisions of Title I, 
Division 7, Chapter 5, Article I (Sections 6500, et seq.) of the California Government 
Code (hereinafter the "Act'') relating to joint exercise of powers by public agencies. 

RECITALS 

A. Certain fire protection districts, ambulance service districts, cities and the County
of Sonoma entered into the initial Joint Powers Agreement Establishing a Coordinated
Public Safety Dispatch System for Fire and Emergency Medical Services in Sonoma
County, effective on June 30, 2002, pursuant to the Act (hereinafter, the "First JPA
Agreement"). The resulting joint powers authority entity (hereinafter, "Authority")
was named the Redwood Empire Dispatch Communications Authority, or "REDCOM".

B. The First JPA Agreement enabled REDCOM to successfully pursue its mission of
consolidating the fire and emergency medical dispatch services among the parties thereto,
to provide a more effective and efficient coordination of dispatch services for the benefit
of the public.

C. By its own terms, the First JPA Agreement terminated on June 30, 2007, unless
otherwise extended by the parties. In 2007, the members of REDCOM entered into a
subsequent Joint Powers Agreement (hereinafter “JPA”) in order to extend the term of the
First JPA Agreement and to continue the mission of coordinated public safety dispatch
within Sonoma County.

D. In 2019, the parties entered into the First Amended Joint Powers Agreement,
making further amendments and clarifications to the JPA executed in 2007.

E. The undersigned members (also called the "Member Agencies" herein) desire to
further amend the JPA to reflect recent transitions to REDCOM’s funding sources, make
clarifications regarding member assessments, adjust the Board composition, allow for
expanded membership outside Sonoma County, and to make other administrative and
clerical corrections.

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MEMBER AGENCIES HEREBY AGREE TO THE 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS SET FORTH BELOW. 

AGREEMENT 

The Member Agencies agree that the terms and conditions of the First Amended 



Page 2 of 13 

Joint Powers Agreement are hereby amended, modified and replaced in their entirety, as 
set forth below (for ease of reference, all terms and conditions are set forth below 
regardless of whether or not they are amended or modified). This Agreement is effective 
beginning __________________. 

1. Recitals. The Recitals set forth above are true and correct.

2. Definitions:

a. Authority:  The Redwood Empire Dispatch Communications Authority or
“REDCOM,” a joint powers authority established among the Member
Agencies pursuant to California Government Code section 6500, et seq.

b. Communications Center: The centralized facility (including staff, equipment,
etc.) used for coordinated emergency response, dispatch and management,
serving as the hub for all communication, resource allocation, and incident
coordination during an emergency. A Communications Center can also be
mobile and operate from a vehicle.

c. Emergency Command Center: A centralized communications response center
that includes incident command and coordination between fire, Emergency
Medical Services and other emergency resources. It is staffed with a
combination of emergency coordination and fire liaison staff, dispatchers,
calltakers, a director, communication/operation manager(s) and technical
personnel. Staff may be cross trained to handle a multitude of positions.

d. EOA Provider: The exclusive provider of emergency medical transport
within an Exclusive Operating Area (EOA) as defined and designated by the
County of Sonoma. An EOA Provider can be a Member Agency or a Private
Provider under contract with the County of Sonoma.

e. Member Agencies: The public entities that are signatories to this Agreement
and members of the Authority.

f. Private Provider: Private organization that provides emergency services,
transport, or other related services and contract with the Authority for
dispatch services. Private Providers are not Member Agencies of the
Authority.

3. General Purpose of Agreement. The purpose of this Agreement is to establish
a joint powers authority that efficiently and effectively provides coordinated public
safety dispatch of fire and emergency medical services through the operation of a
Communications Center (or Emergency Command Center) and a back-up
communications system. The Member Agencies intend that additional public
agencies that provide fire protection and/or ambulance services, not presently
executing this Agreement, may join the joint powers authority in the future subject to



Page 3 of 13 

the applicable terms and conditions stated in this Agreement. The Communications 
Center (or Emergency Command Center) may also provide fire and emergency 
services dispatch services on a contractual basis to other governmental and private 
entities. 

The Member Agencies also intend to utilize flexible, cost effective, and 
efficient methods of providing the coordinated public safety dispatch of fire and 
emergency medical services, including a back-up communications system. The 
methods used in future years to provide these services may differ from those 
initially established under this Agreement. Any such changes shall be determined 
by the Board of Directors of the Authority. 

4. Joint Powers Authority Created. Pursuant to Section 6506 of the Act, the
Member Agencies create a public entity, separate and apart from the Member
Agencies to this Agreement, to be known as the Redwood Empire Dispatch
Communications Authority (hereinafter referred to as the "Authority"). The debts,
liabilities and obligations of the Authority shall not constitute debts, liabilities and/ or
obligations of any of the Member Agencies.

5. Authority Services. The Authority shall provide the following services:

a. the coordinated public safety dispatch of fire and emergency medical
services to the Member Agencies, and to those public and private agencies
who contract with the Authority for those services. Dispatch of emergency
medical services shall meet certain minimum medical standards as
determined by the appropriate local emergency medical services agency
(LEMSA).

b. administrative and operational management of the Authority. .

c. process and document emergency calls for service.

d. monitor the status of field unit activity.

e. process and document non-emergency calls for service associated with
field resources.

f. process and document field initiated activity.

g. obtain and maintain adequate facility, ground based and mobile radio
systems, CAD systems, and other required equipment.

h. arrange for needed staff to carry out the services provided, and a
comprehensive training program.



Page 4 of 13 

i. such other services as may be added in the future by agreement among
the Member Agencies.

6. Powers and Duties.

a. Authority. The Authority shall have the powers common to the Member
Agencies, to wit: the power to acquire sites and construct, equip, staff,
maintain, operate, and lease public buildings and related facilities for the
purpose of providing for public safety communications.

Pursuant to the Act (Government Code Sections 6508 and 6509), all 
common powers exercised by the Authority shall be exercised in a manner 
consistent with, and subject to, the restrictions and limitations upon the exercise 
of such powers as are applicable to the County of Sonoma, a general law county.  

The Authority is authorized in its own name to perform all acts necessary 
for the exercise of common powers including, but not limited to, any or all of the 
following: 

i) to make and enter into contracts;

ii) to employ agents and employees and to obtain legal, financial,
accounting, technical, and other services as needed to carry out its
mission;

iii) to acquire, construct, manage, maintain and operate any
buildings, works, or improvements;

iv) to acquire, hold, lease, or dispose of property;

v) to incur debts, liabilities or obligations, but no debt, liability or
obligation of the Authority shall be a debt, liability or obligation of any of
the Member Agencies, except as otherwise provided herein;

vi) to receive gifts, contributions and donation of property and
funds, services and other forms of financial assistance, from persons, firms
and corporations and any governmental entity;

vii) to rent or lease communications services to non-public agencies;

viii) to sue and be sued in its own name.

Such powers shall be exercised in the manner provided in the Act subject 
only to such restrictions as set forth in this Agreement and as imposed upon the 
Member Agencies in the exercise of similar powers. 



Page 5 of 13 

Pursuant to Section 6504 to the Act, in the absence of alternate revenue 
sources, the Authority is empowered and by this Agreement required to assess 
the Member Agencies to finance the entire operation of the Authority in the 
manner set forth in this Agreement. 

b. Board of Directors. The Board of Directors, as the governing and
administrative body of the Authority, shall formulate and set policy, and shall
exercise the powers set forth in this Agreement to accomplish its purpose. The
Board is responsible for development of a consolidated fire and emergency
medical services Communications Center (or Emergency Command Center),
for the leasing or purchase of a Facility and/ or acquisition of equipment,
personnel staffing and full time maintenance and operations of related
equipment and facilities.

7. Governance

a. Board of Directors. The Authority shall be governed by a Board of
Directors having seven (7) members. Unless otherwise specified herein, each
Director shall be an elected or appointed official of separate Member Agencies.
The seven (7) members shall be as follows:

i. One Director shall represent the largest city by call volume.

ii. One Director shall represent the largest fire protection district by call
volume.

iii. One Director shall represent a city or fire protection district that provides
ambulance transport, selected by a majority vote of all Member Agencies
that are cities or fire protection districts that provide ambulance transport.

iv. One Director shall represent a city, fire protection district, or special
district selected by a majority vote of all Member Agencies.

v. One Director shall be from a selected Member Agency that provides
ambulance services but does not provide fire protection services. Said
Director shall be selected by a majority vote of Member Agencies that
provide ambulance services but not fire protection services.

vi. One Director shall be the person holding the position of Regional
Administrator (or in the case of a temporary vacancy of that office, Acting
Administrator) of the Sonoma County Emergency Medical Services
Agency.

vii. One Director shall be a County of Sonoma representative, nominated by at
least four (4) of the other six (6) Directors.



Page 6 of 13 

No Member Agency shall occupy more than one seat on the Board of Directors. 
At no time shall there be fewer than two (2) Directors from Member Agencies that 
are cities. At no time shall there be fewer than two (2) Directors from Member 
Agencies that are special districts and/or fire protection districts.  

b. Continuing Terms. As of the Effective Date of this Agreement, all
individual members on the Board of Directors shall continue to serve their terms
of office uninterrupted.

c. Normal Term of Office of Directors. Each Director shall serve a four (4)
year term of office. All Directors, except the persons holding the position of
Regional Administrator of the Sonoma County EMS Agency and the seventh
Director as described in paragraph 7(a)(vii), shall serve at the will and pleasure of
their respective agencies and may be replaced at any time and without cause by
the Member Agency that initially appointed the Director. Any replacement
Director shall serve out the balance of the term of the member being replaced.

d. Alternates. Any Board Director may, from time to time, appoint an
alternate to serve in the Director's place at any meeting. Any such alternate shall
be a government employee or official from the same Member Agency as the
Board Member.

8. Meetings of the Board of Directors

a. Conducting Meetings. The Board shall hold regular meetings at least
four (4) times annually and shall adopt bylaws for conducting meetings and
other business. All meetings of the Board, including without limitation
regular, adjourned regular and special meetings, shall be called, noticed and
conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act
(commencing with Section 54950 of the California Government Code).

b. Quorum and Decision Making Methods. A majority of voting members of
the board shall constitute a quorum. Decisions shall be made by a minimum of
four (4) votes of voting members present except where otherwise required by
law or established by Board bylaws or other provisions of this Agreement.

c. Board Officers. The Board shall have a Chair to preside at and conduct all
meetings and a Vice Chair who shall succeed the Chair and preside in absence
of the Chair. The offices of Chair and Vice Chair shall rotate through each of
the seats on the Board annually in a manner to be determined by the bylaws.
No member shall retain the same office two (2) years in succession as a result
of appointment to a separate seat.

d. Voting. Each Director, or his alternate, shall be entitled to one vote. Any
decision of the Board of Directors shall require four (4) votes to be effective



Page 7 of 13 

except when this Agreement specifically provides that a supermajority or 
unanimous vote is required. A supermajority of the Board shall be defined as 
five (5) votes. 

9. Limitation on Powers. The Board of Directors of the Authority shall have
all powers available under the Act to perform the services set forth in this
Agreement, except that the issuance of new Authority debt (or increases in debt
service payments required from Member Agencies) in an amount in excess of 20% of
the Authority's operating budget for the prior fiscal year must first be approved by a
supermajority (2/3) vote of the Member Agencies.

10. Appointed Officers. Pursuant to Government Code Section 6505.5, the Board of
Directors appoints the County of Sonoma Auditor, Controller, Treasurer, Tax Collector
(ACTTC)  to serve the Authority as Auditor and Treasurer. Such officers shall receive
no compensation for holding the appointed office but shall be compensated for the cost
of providing services as per written agreement with the Authority.

11. Frequencies. Each Member Agency retains the ownership of its radio frequencies,
but shall make the use of each such frequency available to Authority and each
Member Agency for the purpose of carrying out the provisions of this Agreement.

12. Fiscal Year and Annual Budget/Financing

a. Fiscal Year. The Authority's fiscal year shall be the twelve (12) month
period commencing each July 1.

b. Annual Budget. The Authority shall operate only under an approved
fiscal year operating budget. The Authority may not operate at a deficit. The
Member Agencies, EOA Providers, and Private Providers shall pay for their
share of the entire operation of the Authority, with the annual operating
expenditure budget determining the total amount of assessment required. Once
adopted annually for each fiscal year, the total annual expenditure budget may
only be increased by supermajority vote of the Board of Directors. The Authority
will adopt an annual operating budget no later than March 15 for the following
fiscal year in accordance with applicable state law. The Authority shall notify
each Member Agency, EOA Provider, and contracting Private Provider of its
share of the Authority's annual cost for the following fiscal year no later than
April 1.

c. Budget Elements. The Board of Directors, in adopting an annual budget,
thereby fixes the assessment against the Member Agencies which is binding
thereon. The budget shall include, but is not limited to, the following
components:

i) Operation and Maintenance Expenses. The costs of operating
and maintaining a Communications Center (or Emergency Command



Page 8 of 13

Center) and the communications/computer equipment housed therein 
shall include, but is not limited to, personnel salaries and benefits, 
office and computer supplies and other consumables, payments to lease 
a facility, and replacement parts necessary to repair facility equipment 
due to normal wear and tear from ordinary usage. 

ii) Capital Expenditures. Capital expenditures shall include the
costs of original purchase of communications and computer equipment,
hardware, software and other fixed asset with a useful life determined
by the REDCOM Capital Assets and Depreciation Policy, including
equipment improvements and additions, as opposed to replacement
parts for ordinary maintenance during the useful life of the capital
items. All costs associated with such purchase, such as installation,
shall be capitalized. Replacement of equipment at the end of its useful
life shall be a capital item.

iii) Contingencies. The Authority’s annual budget shall include a
reasonable provision for contingencies.

Operations, maintenance, and capital expenditures shall be shared 
by the Member Agencies, EOA Providers and Private Providers in 
conformance with the cost formula established by this Agreement, except 
for the operations, maintenance, and capital expenditures which are 
incurred for and are unique to a minority of the Member Agencies, in 
which case such minority share the expense amongst themselves through a 
cost allocation formula approved by the Board of Directors. 

d. Assessments. Upon adoption of the fiscal year budget by the Board of
Directors, and the forwarding thereof to the governing bodies of the Member
Agencies, the assessments fixed therein are automatically due and payable
without further notice as follows:

July 15: 

October 15: 

January 15: 

April 15: 

35% of total assessment 

25% of total assessment 

25% of total assessment 

15% of total assessment 

The Board of Directors may set a different payment schedule, for any reason 
including, but not limited to, providing for adequate cash flow for operations and 
maintenance expenses and/or capital purchases, or to accommodate the influx of 
different revenue sources. 



Page 9 of 13 

After (30) calendar days, the Authority reserves the right to apply a late 
charge of up to five percent (5%) upon assessment payments not promptly 
received by the Authority. An additional five percent (5%) charge shall be 
imposed if payment is not made within an additional thirty (30) calendar days. 
If an assessment, including late charges, is not paid in full within seventy five 
(75) calendar days following the initial assessment of the late charge, the
Member Agency shall be in default and the Board of Directors will determine
the appropriate penalty at its next public meeting, including potential
termination in accordance with this Agreement.

13. Funding and Cost Allocation. The Authority shall endeavor to provide its services
in the most cost effective manner available without compromising quality standards. The
Authority shall endeavor to allocate all costs fairly and equitably to all participating
Member Agencies, EOA Providers, and approved Private Providers. The Authority shall
endeavor to maximize external revenue sources to proportionately offset all Member
Agencies’ member assessments.

The Authority shall consider all available funding options to finance its costs. 
These shall include but are not limited to: charges to Member Agencies, EOA Providers, 
and Private Providers for baseline services, charges to Member  Agencies, EOA 
Providers, and Private Providers for enhanced or additional services, charges for contract 
services provided to other agencies and Private Providers, taxes, bonds, and federal 
or state or private grants. 

Costs charged by the Authority to Member Agencies, EOA Providers, and 
approved Private Providers shall be allocated based on a five-year rolling average of call 
volumes. The Board shall establish the methodology for determining the volume of calls. 
The percentage allocations may also be revised at any time by the Board of Directors to 
accommodate the addition, if any, of new providers or the annexations or consolidations 
between members as per the provisions of this Agreement. 

The Board of Directors shall also establish the charges to Member Agencies, 
EOA Providers, Private Providers, and others to cover the costs for any enhanced or 
additional services. 

14. Dispatch Operations Advisory Group. There shall be an advisory body to
review and recommend operational policies and procedures that guide the day-to-
day operations of the dispatch center. The advisory body will also serve to provide
technical advice and function as a link between field operations resources and the
Communications Center (or Emergency Command Center). The members of the
advisory body shall be appointed by the Board of Directors as set forth in the By
Laws.

15. Appeals to the Board of Directors. Any Member Agency shall have the right



to appeal any implemented or recommended policy or procedure to the Authority's 
Board of Directors for final determination should, in the opinion of the member 
agency, such policy or procedure pose a significant impact on the member agency. In 
such cases, the Authority's Board of Directors shall need a supermajority vote, to 
approve the policy or recommendation. 

16. Term of Agreement and Termination Provisions.  This Agreement shall
be deemed to go into effect on ___________________ (the "Effective Date"), and shall
continue in full force and effect until rescinded or terminated, as set forth below.

a. Termination of Individual Membership. Any Member Agency may terminate
its participation in this Agreement by giving written notice to the Board of Directors not 
less than one year and 120 days before the start of the fiscal year, which termination 
shall be effective only on the beginning of the next fiscal year. 

i) If a Member Agency terminates its participation in this Agreement, 
it shall pay its portion of the costs for which it is responsible for paying up to the date of 
termination pursuant to the cost allocation methodology provided by this Agreement. In 
addition, a terminating Member Agency shall also be required to pay its share, as 
determined by the Board of Directors, of remaining unpaid costs/ debts related to any and 
all tangible and intangible property (including but not limited to, costs of equipment, 
leases, facilities, improvements, etc.), as well as the actual costs associated with its 
membership termination (including but not limited to, staff time required to 
change existing systems). Any payments due under this section shall be paid within 
ninety (90) days after the effective date of termination. 

ii) Termination of this Agreement by any Member Agency shall not 
be construed as a completion of the purpose of this Agreement, and shall not require 
the repayment or return to the remaining Member Agencies of all or any part of any 
contributions, payments, or advances made by the Member Agencies until this 
Agreement is rescinded or terminated as to all Member Agencies. Further, the Board 
of Directors of the Authority has the discretion and authority to determine how to 
address any claims of ownership and/ or possession of any property by a terminating 
Member Agency (except as to radio frequencies). 

b. Rescission of Agreement by All Member Agencies. At any time, this 
Agreement may be rescinded and terminated, and the Authority may be dissolved, by a 
unanimous vote of all Member Agencies. In such an event, the remaining assets and 
liabilities shall be apportioned among all Member Agencies according to the relative 
assessments paid by those Member Agencies, exclusive of late charges, for the five years 
immediately preceding the point of termination. 

17. Consolidations, Divisions and Annexations of Member Agencies. 
Consolidations of Member Agencies with other Member Agencies or with non-
member agencies, divisions of Member Agencies into two or more entities, and

Page 10 of 13 



annexations of portions of Member Agencies shall have no adverse effect on the cost 
assessments of uninvolved Member Agencies. In the event that involved Member 
Agencies cannot come to agreement with regards to adjustments to cost assessments 
between themselves, the Board of Directors shall resolve the matter after considering 
and hearing from the affected Member Agencies. 

18. Exclusive Operating Area Providers. In the event a Member Agency becomes
the emergency medical services provider within an Exclusive Operating Area (EOA)
designated by the County of Sonoma, there shall be no adverse effect on the member
assessments of the other Member Agencies unrelated and unaffected by the EOA. An
incoming EOA provider shall adopt the prior EOA provider’s five-year call volume
average (after reflecting the new EOA Provider’s service delivery model) for the
purposes of calculating the incoming EOA provider’s new contribution to reflect the
increased dispatch services provided by the Authority. The call volume (or equivalent
measure of service) in the EOA shall be considered separately and independently
from the call volume of the Member Agency for the purposes of calculating the
member assessments for the Member Agency providing emergency medical services
within the EOA.

19. Membership.  The Authority shall be open to membership by all cities,
independent districts, and other public agencies that provide fire protection and/ or
ambulance services.

a. Admission of New Members. The Board of Directors has the authority to
admit new members to the Authority, after notice to existing members and an 
opportunity for them to be heard at a public meeting. The Board may set the terms and 
conditions for admitting new members (either individually or generally) that it deems 
appropriate. 

b. Cost of Admitting New Members. The Board of Directors shall determine 
the cost of admitting any new members to the Authority, including any buy-in costs or 
on-going assessments and charges the new members will be required to pay the 
Authority. The Board is responsible for assessing costs to new members based on the 
actual costs incurred and in the manner assessed to other Member Agencies. 

c. New Member Obligations. Each agency accepted as a new member shall 
be required to pay all required costs as determined by the Board of Directors, as well as 
sign a copy of this Agreement or an acknowledgement that it is bound to all the terms 
and conditions herein. 

d. Removal of Member. The Board of Directors may remove any Member 
Agency from the Authority for good cause including, but not limited to, failure to pay 
required costs or compromising the function or integrity of the dispatch system. Such 
removal can be effectuated only upon a supermajority vote of the Board of Directors 
after providing the affected Member Agency (and all other Member Agencies) with at 
least 30 days written notice of the intended removal and an opportunity to be heard at a 

Page 11 of 13



public meeting of the Board of Directors. A Member Agency removed from the 
Authority pursuant to the provisions of this section will be deemed to have terminated its 
membership, and shall be required to comply with the payment provisions of Section 
16(a)(i), as well as all other applicable requirements. 

20. Amendments to Agreement.  Except for the admission of a new member,
this Agreement may be amended or modified only by a unanimous vote of the
Member Agencies. Any amendments to this Agreement shall be in writing and
signed by all Member Agencies.

21. Severability. Should any part, term, portion or provision of this Agreement, or
the application thereof to any person or circumstances, be in conflict with any State or
Federal law, or otherwise be rendered unenforceable or ineffectual, the validity of the
remaining parts, terms, portions, or provisions, or the application thereof to other
persons or circumstances, shall be deemed severable and shall not be affected thereby,
provided such remaining portions or provisions can be construed in substance to
continue to constitute the Agreement that the Member Agencies intended to enter into in
the first instance.

22. Insurance. The Authority shall be required to obtain insurance, or join a self- 
insurance program(s) in which one or more of the Member Agencies participate,
appropriate for its operations. Any and all insurance coverages provided by the
Authority, and/ or any self-insurance programs joined by the Authority, shall name
each and every Member Agency as an additional insured for all liability arising out
of or in connection with the operations by or on behalf of the named insured in the
performance of this Agreement. Minimum levels of the insurance or self-insurance
program shall be set by the Authority in its ordinary course of business. The
Authority shall also require all of its contractors and subcontractors to have insurance
appropriate for their operations.

23. Indemnity. The Authority shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Member
Agencies their officers, agents, servants, employees and volunteers from any and all
claims, losses, costs or liability resulting to any person, firm or corporation or any other
public or private entity for damages of any kind, including, but not limited to, injury,
harm, sickness or death to persons and/ or property from any cause whatsoever
arising from or in any way connected with the performance of all operations and
exercise of its powers except from any such claim arising solely out of acts or omissions
attributable to the Member Agency or its officers, employees, volunteers or agents.

Member Agencies shall indemnify the Authority in the same manner above for all 
non-dispatch incidents and non-dispatch related emergency operations or response. 

24. Successors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit 
of the successors of the Member Agencies hereto.

Page 12 of 13 



Page 13 of 13 

25. Notice of Creation. A notice of the creation of the Authority by this Agreement,
and its subsequent amendment, shall be filed by the Authority with the Secretary of
State, pursuant to Section 6503.5 of the Act.

26. Other Notices.  Notices other than the Notice of Creation required or permitted
to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing. Delivery of such notices shall be
conclusively taken and sufficiently given forty-eight (48) hours after deposit in the
United States Mail, return receipt requested, with the postage thereon fully prepaid,
addressed to the Authority as follows:

REDCOM Dispatch Center 
Executive Director 
2796 Ventura Avenue 
Santa Rosa, CA 95403 

Notices to the Member Agencies shall be provided in the same manner as 
above, addressed as set forth in the signature page hereto. The Authority may change 
its address above for notices by giving written notice as described above to all 
Member Agencies. Any Member Agency may change its address for notices by 
giving written notice as described above to the Authority. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Member Agencies hereto have caused this 
Agreement to be executed and attested by their proper officers thereunto duly 
authorized, as of the day and year first above written. 



Page 1 of 8

BYLAWS OF THE REDWOOD EMPIRE 
DISPATCH COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY 

1. The Redwood Empire Dispatch Communications Authority (“REDCOM”) is a Joint
Powers Authority based in Sonoma County that provides fire and emergency medical 
services dispatch service to its member agencies.  Pursuant to the terms of the 
REDCOM Joint Powers Agreement, the REDCOM Board adopts and periodically 
amends these Bylaws to define the roles and responsibilities of Board members, 
subcommittees of the Board, and the member agencies.  

1.2. Officers. There shall be three four officers of the Redwood Empire Dispatch 
Communications Authority ("REDCOM" hereinafter) as elected or appointed by the 
Board of Directors. These are: Chair, Vice-Chair, and Secretary, and Executive 
Director. 

a. Duties. The duties of the three four officers shall be as set forth below:

i. Chair shall preside over meetings and set the agenda, shall sign contracts,
payments consistent with the approved budget, and other documents
as the authorized representative of the Board.  The Chair shall call regular
and special meetings of the Board of Directors.  In the absence of the Chair,
a majority of the remaining members of the REDCOM Board of Directors
may call a special meeting pursuant to the California Ralph M. Brown Act
(Cal. Government Code section 54950 et. seq.).

ii. Vice-Chair shall perform the duties of the cChair in the event that the
Chair is absent.

iii. Secretary shall perform the duties of the cChair in the event that both
the Chair and the Vice-Chair are absent, and shall also prepare minutes of
the Board Meetings and provide copies to members of the Board and
the public.

iii.iv. Executive Director: The Board of Directors shall employ an individual as an
Executive Director who shall be the chief administrator of REDCOM, subject to 
the Board’s direction. The Executive Director shall be responsible for 
REDCOM’s day-to-day operations, organization, staff relations, preparation of 
the annual budget, supervising the activities of committees the Board may create, 
and serving as Clerk of the Board, purchasing agent, and custodian of records. In 
general, the Executive Director shall perform all duties incident to the position of 
Executive Officer and such other duties as may be required by these Bylaws or 
which may be assigned from time to time by the Board. The Executive Director 
shall have expenditure authority as established by Board policy. The Executive 



Page 2 of 8 

Director shall report all such expenditures and change orders approved to the 
Board at its next meeting. Subject to the authority of and as directed by the 
Board, the Executive Director shall have the authority to appoint, direct, and 
remove all staff of REDCOM and to retain and supervise any consultants and 
contractors to REDCOM. The Executive Director shall have the authority to 
appoint a Clerk of the Board to publish agenda, prepare meeting minutes, 
coordinate meeting schedules and quorum, and any other administrative 
activities of the Board.  

b. Election and Terms. At the first regular meeting in July of each calendar
fiscal year, the officers shall be elected by the Board. No individual may hold
the same office for two or more consecutive years.  Terms of office shall
begin with the first action following the election and continue until the next
election. Special elections can also be called as necessary by a vote of five
members of the Board.

2.3. Regular Business Meetings. 

There shall be no fewer than four (4) Regular Meetings of the Board each calendar 
year, with such meetings to be held on or about the first or second week Thursday of 
February, March, July and October of each year. The location of Regular Meetings 
shall be determined by the ChairExecutive Director. 

3.4. Conduct of Meetings. Meetings of the REDCOM Board of Directors shall be 
conducted in an orderly fashion and, at the request of any Director, shall refer to 
"Robert's Rules of Order" for clarification or to specify any individual procedure. 
Speakers shall be recognized by the Chair before making remarks. Motions 
may be made by any member and require a second for consideration. The 
Chair can stop debate and call for a vote at any time. Amendments to a motion 
can only be made with the consent of the motions originator. Meetings will be 
conducted in compliance with the Brown Act. The Board shall adopt a Code of 
Conduct and review periodically for updates and amendments. 

4.5. Conflict of Interest Code. The Board shall adopt a conflict of interest code and 
shall review and update the code at least annually. The Board of Directors, Executive 
Director and designee(s) shall be subject to the conflict of interest rules set forth in the 
Political Reform Act (commencing with Section 81000 of the California Government 
Code) and Sections 1090 et seq. of the California Government Code. REDCOM shall 
adopt a Conflict of Interest Code as required and as provided by the implementing 
regulations of the Political Reform Act. 

6. Dispatch Operations Advisory BodyGroup. The Dispatch Operations Advisory Group
Body• established in the Joint Powers Agreement shall, at a minimum, consist of
seven (7) members:

i. the Emergency Communications Center chief of the California



Page 3 of 8

Department of Forestry and Fire Protection or his/her designee; 
ii. a representative of at least one (1) city;,

iii. a representative of at least one (1) independent district;,
iv. one (1) representative of County Services Area 40volunteer fire

departments within the County of Sonoma;,
v. a representative of the Sonoma County Exclusive Operating Area 1Ambulance

Services Franchise Provider, and;
vi. a representative of one (1) agency that provides both fire protection and

ambulance services, and;
vii. one (1) representative from the Local Emergency Medical Services Authority

(LEMSA). 

. Members of this advisory body group  shall be appointed by their respective 
Department Heads or comparable person in the identified member agencies. The 
Board shall have the power to amend this list of minimum membership at any time, 
upon a majority vote. No agency shall occupy more than one seat on the Dispatch 
Operations Advisory Group.   

5.7. Committees.  The Chair, subject to approval by the Board, shall appoint 
committees and provide direction as to the purpose and deadlines for each 
committee. Once appointed, committees shall elect a Chair and orgamze 
themselves as approp1iate to complete their purpose. Committees shall be 
abolished by majority vote of the Board, or when the purpose for their 
formation has been satisfied. 

6.8.Notification  of Major REDCOM Financial Commitments: AOutside of the annual 
budget adoption process, all members will be notified 60 days in advance before 
the Board incurs any obligation in excess of 20% of REDCOM's last approved 
total operating expenditure budget for the prior fiscal year.  Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, the 60 day notice period described above may be limited based on 
emergency or exigent circumstances, in which case members shall be 
provided with such notice as soon as reasonably practical. Any Board action 
approving a major financial commitment as described in this section that is likely to 
result in a new financial obligation that is 20% greater than REDCOM's operating 
budget for the prior fiscal year, not including annual operating expenses that are 
included in an approved budget, must first be approved by a 2/3 affirmative 
vote of the membership. 

a. The notice shall include a schedule that includes an estimate of the
annual costs for which each member will be responsible, and the fiscal years in
which the costs will be levied.

b. The estimate of future year costs shall be based on the members' current fiscal
year percentage shares of the cost in for the first full fiscal year of debt service (or
annual depreciation or capital replacement) and shall include a statement



 Page 4 of 8  

describing the bases upon which future years' percentage shares may be 
changed, and advising that members will be required to pay the entire balance of 
this cost in the event of their subsequent withdrawal (i.e. beyond the period for 
withdrawal following receipt of the 60 day notice) from REDCOM. 

c. The notices provided for in this section shall be sent via regular mail, first class
delivery, to the chairman or department head of each member agency.

7.9. Membership Termination Procedures. If a Member of REDCOM decides to 
terminate its membership therein, it shall be required to comply with the 
terms and conditions regarding termination as set forth in REDCOM's Joint 
Powers Authority agreement. The following procedures shall govern the processing of 
termination notices. 

a. Notice. Within sixty ninety (690) days of receipt of a notice from a member
seeking to terminate its membership in REDCOM, the Board shall provide to
such member an estimate of the costs to be paid pursuant to such termination.
If the estimate for any particular item(s) of cost cannot reasonably be provided
within the sixty -ninety- day period, the Board shall so inform the terminating
member, and shall provide it with all relevant information which may
reasonably be produced which could allow the member to estimate the cost itself.

b. Calculation of Post-Termination Liabilities: After providing a notice of
termination, the terminating member shall continue to pay existing operating cost
obligations in the same time and manner until the termination becomes
effective. In addition, such terminating member  would also pay, in a timely
manner, any costs incurred to remove the member from the CAD system, and any
radio adjustments, and all other systems required in order to continue providing
the same level of radio service to continuing members and contractors, if any.
Upon a 2/3 vote, the Board may decide that all or a portion of these costs will be
waived or assigned to others upon a finding of a benefit to REDCOM or its non-
terminating members.

i. Additional expenses for which terminating members would be liable
include any items which REDCOM amortizes in the budget, and any
expenses that REDCOM was obligated to pay prior to receiving the notice
of termination.

ii. Terminating members shall pay a percentage of any obligations remaining
after their termination in an amount equal to the percentage of their
allocation in their last full fiscal year of as a member of the JPA. The
payment amount shall be discounted by the County treasury pool rate
applicable for that time period. For example, if a member terminates five
years into a thirty year lease, it would owe all of its portion of the



Page 5 of 8 

remaining lease payments, discounted as noted. 

iii. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a member has provided a notice of
termination prior to REDCOM incurring a major financial obligations
commitment as described in Section 7more than 20% in excess of REDCOM's
operating budget for the prior fiscal year, the member shall be liable only to
pay for the costs associated with such obligation up to the effective date of
termination.

iv. The Board and terminating member could agree to a multi-year payment
plan (less the net present value discount as applicable) should it be requested by
terminating member, so long as the term for repayment would not
exceed the term of repayment of other continuing members.

c. Negotiation. After providing notice of the costs associated with termination,
the Board and the terminating member shall in good faith negotiate the actual
amount the terminating member shall be required to pay. If the parties fail to
reach an agreement regarding the amount of payment, they may mutually
agree to mediate, arbitrate, or invoke any other procedure available under law
or in equity. Except as may be mutually agreed, either party may file a legal action
to resolve the dispute

d. Withdrawal of Notice of Termination. Prior to the effective date of
termination, any member may withdraw a notice of termination of membership
previously provided upon payment of all costs incurred by REDCOM associated
with, or as a result of receiving, the notice of termination. The Board has the
discretion to waive such costs.

8.10. Insurance Coverage. At a minimum, REDCOM recommends that its members 
maintain insurance, or their respective self-insurance programs that cover the 
operations of REDCOM, as set forth below. If REDCOM obtains its own 
insurance, it is required to obtain insurance that meets, at a minimum, the 
following requirements: 

a. Commercial general liability insurance covering bodily injury, property
damage, personal injury, public officials errors and omissions, employment
practices, and incidental medical malpractice, using an occurrence policy form,
in an amount no less that five million dollars ($5,000,000.00) combined single
limit for each occurrence. Said coverage shall either be endorsed with the following
specific language or contain equivalent language in the policy:

"The inclusion of more than one insured shall not operate to impair 
the rights of one insured against another insured, and the coverages 
afforded shall apply as though separate policies had been issued to 
each insured, but the inclusion of more than one insured shall not 



Page 6 of 8 

operate to increase the limits of REDCOM's liability. In addition, the 
insurance provided herein is primary coverage to the named insureds 
with respect to any insurance or self-insurance programs maintained 
by the Parties." 

b. In the absence of incidental medical malpractice coverage required above,
professional liability insurance for all activities of REDCOM arising out of or in
connection with the operations of REDCOM, in an amount no less than five
million dollars ($5,000,000.00) combined single limit for each occurrence.

c. Automobile liability coverage including bodily injury and property damage
in an amount no less than one million dollars ($1,000,000.00) combined single
limit for each occurrence. Said coverage shall include owned, hired, and non-
owned vehicles.

d. Workers' Compensation coverage with statutory limits, as required by the
Labor Code of the State of California.

9.11. Insurance for Contractors. Any contractors or subcontractors engaged by 
REDCOM to perform services or provide materials to REDCOM shall be 
required to maintain, and shall require all of their subcontractors and other agents 
to maintain, insurance in an amount and under terms appropriate for the type of 
services rendered or materials provided as determined  by the REDCOM Board. 

When appropriate, REDCOM shall be named as an additional insured for all 
liability arising out of the operations by or on behalf of the named insured. 

10.12. Cooperation in Joint Defense If REDCOM and a Party are Defendants in a 
Lawsuit. REDCOM shall cooperate with each of the members in the defense of 
any claim or lawsuit in which both REDCOM and a member are sued and the 
charging allegations involve the claim of improper response to a call for 
emergency services. The cooperation shall include but not be limited to the 
following: 

a. Mutual exchange of all relevant non-privileged documents without the
need for subpoena or formal discovery;

b. When considered to be in their mutual best interest, access to all employees
with relevant knowledge of the subject matter for the purpose of
interviewing those employees without the need for subpoena or formal
discovery; and

c. Early discussion between REDCOM and a member or members in an



Page 7 of 8 

attempt to reach an agreement as to the most cost-effective strategy for defense 
and resolution of the issues. 

11.13.  Amendments. These bylaws may be added to or otherwise 
amended by resolution of this Board. 



Page 8 of 8


	00 REDCOM BOD Special Meeting Agenda June 5, 2025
	5a Staff Report_Bells Fee Objection
	TO:  Board of Directors Meeting
	DATE: June 5, 2025
	ITEM 5: BELL’S AMBULANCE FEE OBJECTION HEARING
	A) Reject Bell’s Ambulance fee proposal for FY 24/25 and require full monthly payments of REDCOM fees pursuant to the FY 24-25 Revised Budget and the Dispatch Agreement between Bell’s and REDCOM for the remainder of FY 24/25. Consider whether to apply...
	B) Reject Bell’s Ambulance fee proposal for FY 25/26 and require full payment of REDCOM fees pursuant to the Adopted Budget for FY 25/26.
	C) Authorize the REDCOM Executive Director to enforce all terms of the Dispatch Services Agreement with Bell’s Ambulance as needed, up to and including the potential for termination of the contract.
	DISCUSSION
	FISCAL IMPACTS
	A rejection of Bell’s fee objections presents no fiscal impacts to REDCOM.
	Acceptance of a lower fee amount on one or both of Bell’s objections would result in decreased revenues of approximately $60,164 for FY 24-25 and $48,250 for FY 25-26. To maintain a fiscally sound operation, your Board would need to consider the use o...
	ATTACHMENTS

	5b REDCOM Fee ltr. 4.24.2025
	5c Bells Ambulance_Response Letter_5.27.2025
	5d REDCOM fee allocation methodology (Bells - EOA2)
	5e Bells-REDCOM Services Agreement 2018
	5f REDCOM FY 25-26 Members fee assessments
	6_Staff Report_JPA and Bylaws Amendments
	TO:  Board of Directors Meeting
	DATE: June 5, 2025
	ITEM 6: SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE REDCOM JOINT POWERS AGREEMENT AND PROPOSED REDCOM BYLAWS AMENDMENTS
	DISCUSSION
	1. JPA
	The amendments to the JPA reflect a number of clarifications, definitions, and non-substantive amendments that improve consistency in terminology and updates to modern operations of REDCOM.  In addition to these clerical changes, there are a number of...
	a. Gov. Code section 6509 clause: as required by State law governing Joint Powers Authorities, the JPA now includes a clause designating the County of Sonoma as the member agency whose powers and authorities restrict and limit the powers of the Author...
	b. Board Composition: the amended JPA now includes the following Board members:
	1. Largest City by call volume
	2. Largest Fire District by call volume
	3. A City or Fire District that provides ambulance transport, selected by a majority vote of all cities and districts that provide ambulance transport. 
	4. A City, Fire District or Special District elected by majority vote of all member agencies.
	5. Public provider of ambulance but not fire services, elected by majority vote of member agencies that provide ambulance but not fire protection services
	6. Sonoma County EMSA Regional Administrator
	7. County representative nominated by at least 4 of the other 6 Directors
	For comparison, the prior version of the JPA included the following Board composition:
	• 3 of 7 seats from agencies providing fire protection services
	➢ 1 of these shall be the agency with the largest call volume 
	➢ Remaining 2 shall entities providing fire protection services, selected by a majority of all member agencies
	➢ At least 1 but no more than 2 of these agencies from cities providing fire protection services
	• 1 seat from an agency providing ambulance services but not fire protection services
	• 1 seat for the Sonoma County EMSA Regional Administrator
	• 1 seat for Sonoma County Public Health Officer, or their medically qualified designee
	• 1 seat at large, elected by the other 6 directors
	c. Gov. Code section 6505.5 Auditor and Treasurer Appointment: The amended JPA affirmatively identifies the Sonoma County ACTTC as the Auditor/Treasurer of REDCOM, rather than leaving it open ended.  This change reflects the current status for REDCOM ...
	d. Budget Clarifications: The amended JPA includes a number of corrections and clarifications around the Budget process and identifies the EOA providers and private providers as contributors to the cost allocation methodology.  Section 12.b.iii was ad...
	e. Termination: Section 16 was amended to clarify the apportionment of costs in the event of termination of an individual agency or a rescission of the JPA by all member agencies.  These changes reflect that the cost allocation methodology will be uti...
	f. Section 18 – EOA Providers: Section 18 was added to the JPA to account for cost allocation in the event that a member agency becomes an EOA provider, such as the recent change to have SCFD as the provider in EOA 1.  The new language states that suc...
	g. Membership: Amendments to Section 19 (formerly section 18) allow for the admission of new members that do not have a primary service jurisdiction in Sonoma County. This allows expansion into new jurisdictions (e.g. Mendocino County) and the future ...
	2. Bylaws
	The Bylaws include a various clerical as well as substantive edits that were not captured by our prior Bylaws action in October 2024.  As described above, the Bylaws define and govern the power and authority of the REDCOM Board rather than the member ...
	a. Statement of Intent:  a new Section 1 was added to the Bylaws including a recital about the intent of the Bylaws document and its role for REDCOM.
	b. Calling a Special Meeting: Section 2.a.i. was amended to clarify that the Chair of the Board is authorized to call a special meeting.  In the absence of the Chair, a majority of the remaining Board members may call a special meeting in compliance ...
	c. Executive Director: Section 2.a.iv was added to define the role and authority of the REDCOM Executive Director. This includes responsibility for operations, staffing, budget preparation, supervising Board committees, serving as Clerk of the Board, ...
	d. Elections: Section 2.b was amended to state that officer elections will be held at the first regular meeting of the fiscal year, instead of specifically at the first meeting in July.  This adds flexibility and accommodates Board scheduling around ...
	e. Regular Meetings: Section 3 (formerly section 2) was amended to state that the four annual regular meetings shall be held on or about the first or second week of February, March, July, and October, instead of specifically on the first Thursday of t...
	f. Code of Conduct and Conflict of Interest Code: Sections 4 and 5 (formerly sections 3 and 4) added clarifying language around adoption of a Code of Conduct for the Board and a Conflict of Interest Code, as required by State law. Staff will bring for...
	g. Composition of the DOAG: the composition of the Dispatch Operations Advisory Group is amended to include representatives from the following entities:
	1. CalFIRE ECC Chief
	2. At least one city
	3. At least one independent district
	4. Volunteer fire departments within Sonoma County
	5. The EOA 1 provider
	6. An agency that provides both fire protection and ambulance services
	7. The LEMSA
	These changes are largely modernization of the language and non-substantive edits to the existing DOAG composition. The major substantive change is the addition of the LEMSA representative, which was not identified in the existing Bylaws. Additionally...
	h.  “20% Rule” for major financial commitments: Amendments to Section 8 (formerly section 7) include clarification that the 20% rule applies only outside of the annual budget adoption process, such as the Budget Amendment that the Board approved in e...
	i. Termination: Section 9 (formerly section 8) is amended such that the Board now has 90 days (rather than 60 days) to provide an estimate of costs due to REDCOM by the terminating member agency. Other minor amendments were made to clarify the types o...
	j. Insurance:  Staff are also considering an amendment to the insurance provisions included in Section 10 (formerly section 9) to remove the recommendation that member agencies maintain their own insurance covering the operations of REDCOM.  This refl...
	FISCAL IMPACTS
	There are no direct fiscal impacts to amending the REDCOM JPA or Bylaws
	ATTACHMENTS

	6a_Redline_Second Amended JPA AGREEMENT 5.20.2025
	6b_Clean_Second Amended JPA AGREEMENT 5.20.2025
	6c_DRAFT_REDCOM Bylaws 2025
	Blank Page



